
 

 
 

Eastern Area Planning Committee 
 
Date: Wednesday, 24 April 2024 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: The Allendale Centre, Hanham Road, Wimborne, Dorset, BH21 1AS 
 

Members (Quorum: 6)  
Toni Coombs (Chairman), Shane Bartlett (Vice-Chairman), Mike Barron, Alex Brenton, 
Robin Cook, Mike Dyer, Barry Goringe, David Morgan, Julie Robinson, David Tooke, 
Bill Trite and John Worth 
 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  
 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  megan.r.rochester@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 
the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or personal interest as set 
out in the adopted Code of Conduct.  In making their decision 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration. 
 
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting.  
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 12 

Public Document Pack



 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 13th March 
2024. 
 

 

4.   REGISTRATION FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING 
 

 

 Members of the public wishing to speak to the Committee on a 
planning application should notify the Democratic Services Officer 
listed on the front of this agenda. This must be done no later than two 
clear working days before the meeting. Please refer to the Guide to 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee.  Guide to Public Speaking at 
Planning Committee 
 
The deadline for notifying a request to speak is 8.30am on Monday 
22nd April 2024.  
 

 

5.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 

 To consider the applications listed below for planning permission 
 

 

6.   P/OUT/2022/04113 -  LAND OFF BLACKFIELD LANE, WEST 
MOORS, FERNDOWN, BH22 0NH 
 

13 - 78 

 Outline application for erection of a church & care home with 
associated parking & an area for biodiversity enhancement (all matters 
reserved except access and scale) 
 

 

7.   P/FUL/2023/06130 - 1 CHRISTCHURCH ROAD LONGHAM, 
FERNDOWN, BH22 8TD 
 

79 - 98 

 Change of use and conversion of outbuilding to form new dwelling.  
 

 

8.   P/VOC/2023/07382 - THE BARN, GODS BLESSING LANE, HOLT, 
BH21 7DE 
 

99 - 112 

 Variation of Condition 4 to application P/PAAC/2023/04935 
(Conversion of agricultural barn to a single dwelling, with alterations to 
provide windows to all habitable rooms including 3 bedrooms and 2 
reception rooms.)  
 
(Approved Condition 4 was added under a Non-Material Amendment 
(P/NMA/2023/06875) to list the approved plans). 
 

 

9.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972  
The reason for the urgency shall be recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

10.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item  

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgGeneric.aspx?MD=mgpublicspeakingatplanning%22
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgGeneric.aspx?MD=mgpublicspeakingatplanning%22


 

in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). The public and the press will be asked to leave 
the meeting whilst the item of business is considered.   
 
There are no exempt items scheduled for this meeting.   
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY 13 MARCH 2024 
 

Present: Cllrs Toni Coombs (Chairman), Shane Bartlett (Vice-Chairman), Mike Barron, 
Robin Cook, Mike Dyer, Barry Goringe, David Morgan, Julie Robinson and 
David Tooke 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Alex Brenton, Bill Trite and John Worth 

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): 
Elizabeth Adams (Development Management Team Leader), Marianne Ashworth 
(Lawyer - Regulatory), Kim Cowell (Development Management Area Manager (East)), 
Robert Hanson (Engineer), Joshua Kennedy (Democratic Services Officer), Anna Lee 
(Service Manager for Development Management and Enforcement), Claire Lewis 
(Planning Officer), Hannah Massey (Lawyer - Regulatory), John Miles (Democratic 
Services Officer), Steve Savage (Transport Development Liaison Manager), Naomi 
Shinkins (Lead Project Officer) and Sam Williams (Lead Senior Engineer).  
 

 
66.   Declarations of Interest 

 
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.  
 

67.   Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 7th February 2024 were confirmed 
and signed.  
 

68.   Registration for public speaking and statements 
 
Representations by the public to the Committee on individual planning applications 
are detailed below. There were no questions, petitions or deputations received on 
other items on this occasion. 
 

69.   Planning Applications 
 
Members considered written reports submitted on planning applications as set out 
below. 
 

70.   P/OUT/2022/04113 - Land off Blackfield Lane, West Moors, Ferndown, 
BH22 0NH 
 
The Case Officer provided members with the following update: 
 
Changes to officer report: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

- Officer report referred to use class D (1) and should have referred to 

F1 (f) (For, or in connection with, public worship or religious 

instruction) 

- Paragraph 15.8.7 and the appropriate assessment referred to ‘close 

care’, this should have referred to ‘nursing care’. 

 

Dorset Council Adult Social Care comments  
               - Comments were received on Tuesday 12th March. 
 
Conditions to be to be added or amended: 

- Renewable energy condition 

- Water efficiency condition 

- Limit to number of bedrooms (60 bedrooms maximum) 

- Grampian condition required for the removal of the telegraph pole on 

Station Road 

- Removal of permitted development rights for F1 (f) use class 

- Condition 15 LEMP – addition required in relation to Dorset Heathland 

fires. 

 
Dorset Council update to Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA): 

- Dorset Council SFRA had been updated and published in March 2024 

- There were no changes to the application site flood risk assessment.  

 
 
With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the 
Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning 
policies to members. Photographs of views looking towards and from within the 
site were shown. Members were informed that the site was within the urban area 
of West Moors and was surrounded by the Green Belt. In addition to this, the 
presentation also provided details regarding the site history and outlined the 
previous reasons for refusal. The Case Officer also highlighted the number of local 
objections, responses received by consultees and areas of concerns made by the 
Dorset Council Landscape Officer.  
 
Details of the indicative plans of the proposed buildings were discussed as well as 
outlining the site location in relation to settlement boundaries. The Case Officer 
discussed the impact on neighbouring amenities as well as the proposed site 
access, surface water drainage, foul drainage, and the scale of the development. 
In addition to this, members were informed of the noise assessments which had 
been submitted by both the applicant and neighbours, where reviewed by an 
independent consultant who advised the Applicant NIA presents a more accurate 
and reasonable overall assessment compared to the Residents NIA. Local 
housing need assessments carried out for the Local Plan identified the need for 
care home beds across the county. Included in the officer’s presentation were 
details of the revised design which had a reduced footprint, resulting in the 
proposed care home accommodating 60 bedrooms. The Case Officer highlighted 
highways considerations, including parking which had been deemed as acceptable 
and informed members that there were no protected trees on the proposed site but 
were adjacent to it. Therefore, tree conditions were required.  

Page 6



3 

 
The application site was adjacent to the heathlands and the proposed would have 
a likely significant effect on protected sites. The presentation also outlined 
biodiversity impacts. The officer’s summary of recommendations was to:  
 

A) Grant permission subject to conditions and the completion of a legal 

agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(as amended) in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to 

include planning obligations as follows: - Secure Biodiversity requirements 

including biodiversity management plan and step-in rights. - Secure Dorset 

Heathland restrictions required by Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA). - 

Secure surface water drainage connection outside of the site boundary (or 

provide proof of ownership, where surface water drainage obligations would 

no longer be required).  

 

OR  

 

A) Refuse permission if the legal agreement under section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed by (6 

months from the date of committee) or such extended time as agreed by 

the Head of Planning. 

 
 
Public Participation 
 
The first objector, Mr Brenchley, raised concerns as to the scale of the proposal.  
Mr Brenchley was of the opinion that insufficient details had been submitted by the 
applicant for members to understand the impact of the site. He also spoke about 
separation distances and did not feel that access was suitable to the site. Mr 
Brenchley’s representation also spoke about noise levels generated from the care 
home and church being estimated to be more than WHO recommendations, he felt 
that there was only one logical conclusion and he hoped members would support 
objectors and refuse the application.   
 
Mr Skeats raised concerns regarding highway safety. He felt that it was imperative 
that members undertook a site visit to enable them to experience the demand of 
the site. His representation also highlighted the increase in traffic at peak times, 
which would have resulted in an increase in danger to road safety. Mr Skeats did 
not feel as though there was a need for the development and hoped the committee 
would have felt the strength of the objectors.  
 
Objection was received from Mr Tester who spoke as a representative on behalf of 
Origin Transport Consultants, who had been appointed by the owners of 
residential properties adjoining the development site to assess the suitability of the 
proposed access and surrounding highway surrounding network. He discussed the 
proposal and the disruption which would have been caused by traffic movements. 
Concerns were raised regarding visibility splays being below the standards 
required by Manual for Streets and speed surveys showing that motorists regularly 
travelled above the speed limit. Mr Tester referred to paragraph 115 of NPPF and 
did not feel that in his professional opinion, the junction could have been deemed 

Page 7



4 

safe in highway terms. He hoped members would reconsider the officer’s 
recommendation and refuse the proposal based on highway safety.  
 
Mr Davidson informed the committee that he had experience working with property 
developers. He did not feel that there was a need for the proposed development 
and highlighted that it had a sensitive ecology on and around the site. Mr Davidson 
expressed the importance of the safety of young children and elderly people; he 
urged the committee to visit the site to have a real representation of the junction. 
He felt that there had been a lot of unanswered and unacceptable questions. Mr 
Davidson urged the committee to consider the implications if they were minded to 
grant permission.  
 
Ms Povey understood the importance of members and officers following policies 
and guidance. However, she felt that there was no local need for the type of care 
that was proposed at the care home. She highlighted the existing struggles that 
nursing homes had experienced, particularly issues regarding employment. Ms 
Povey referred to the local housing need and did not feel as though the proposal 
before committee was better than the previous refused scheme. It was highlighted 
that there was an impractical outdoor space and lighting standards could not have 
been achieved. As an ecological climate emergency had been declared by Dorset 
Council, she urged the committee to consider the information that had been 
presented to them.  
 
Mr Cunningham spoke in support of the application. He felt as though the site was 
ideally located and would have served the local need for Dorset. Included in his 
representation was a clear emphasise on the local need and the benefits that the 
proposal would have, in particular the reduction in bed blocking and the reduction 
of pressures on the NHS as well as the release of family housing stock. Mr 
Cunningham reflected on the local demographics and would have contributed to 
the local economy and provided better job opportunities.  
 
Mr Taylor was a member of the Plymouth Brethren Christian Church (PBCC) who 
was hoping to move to the local area. He noted the public concerns and 
comments, however, he felt that the proposal would have been a significant 
benefit to the community and guidelines had to be followed. Mr Taylor was hopeful 
that the committee would grant the officers recommendation to allow for a local 
church community. He had offered help to the local community, which had not yet 
been welcomed, however, he assured that he would continue to try.  
 
Mr Silverthorne made a representation as a member and trustee of the PBCC. He 
highlighted the number of church halls across the UK and was hopeful that the 
committee would support a growing congregation in East Dorset. He was 
disappointed that in 2024, Christians had not been welcomed to the community 
and was not seen as having community value. Mr Silverthorne felt that the 
proposal would have met local needs of the community and was a suitable 
development for the area.  
 
The agent, Giles Moir, spoke in support of the proposal and was pleased with the 
officer’s recommendation to grant planning permission subject to conditions and 
planning obligations. Mr Moir highlighted that the development site was in an area 
of low flood risk and was not surrounded by any Heritage Assets. He felt as though 

Page 8



5 

the application before members had responded to previous concerns and had 
evolved following policies. Mr Moir assured members that careful consideration 
had been given to ensuring positive relationship with neighbouring properties, 
noise mitigation and biodiversity development. Included in his representation was 
the need for care provision. The agent hoped members would support the officer’s 
recommendation.  
 
The Local Town Councillor Nikki Senior spoke in objection to the proposal. Cllr 
Senior highlighted road safety issues and felt that if granted, the proposal would 
have negative impacts on the local community. She also discussed noise pollution 
as well as how the proposal had not responded to local need but would add to 
additional pressures, specifically on medical services. Cllr Senior also discussed 
difficulties in staffing across local nursing homes and was concerned that if 
granted, the proposal would face the same challenges. The Town Council also 
had concerns regarding traffic and lack of public transport to and from the 
proposed site.  Cllr Senior suggested that the proposal would have a negative 
impact on the surrounding heathland despite the proposed mitigation measures 
and biodiversity enhancement.  
 
The Local Ward member, Cllr David Shortell, addressed the committee and 
strongly objected to the proposal. Cllr Shortell felt that the proposal was an 
overdevelopment which would have had repercussions on pedestrian safety due 
to a severe increase in traffic movements. He also discussed poor visibility and 
restricted views from the junctions. Cllr Shortell felt that if the proposal had been 
granted, there would have been a strong mix of vehicles and foot traffic. He 
strongly urged the committee to object and requested a site visit. 
 
 
 
The Case Officer responded to the public representations, reiterating that 
conditions had been included to restrict the use of the proposal. In addition to this, 
members were assured that officers were satisfied with the proposed scale of 
development and that suitable separation distances had been implemented. The 
Case Officer also touched upon noise assessments and consultants who were 
satisfied with the proposal before members of the committee. There was sufficient 
amenity space on the proposed site and the previous reasons for refusal set out in 
the officer’s report were overcome. The case officer explained layout was a 
reserved matter. It was also noted the housing needs assessment identifies a lack 
of nursing beds in East Dorset. The Case Officer discussed the management of 
the proposal, explaining that if granted, the site would have been managed by 
consultants who would have been required to submit monitoring reports to LPA.  
 
The Transport Development Liaison Manager responded to highways concerns. 
He highlighted the difference between the two schemes and noted that the 
proposal represented a reduction in scale and trip generation. Mr Savage 
discussed the visibility splays, acknowledging that standards would be below 
those required by Manual for Streets and commented upon the data which had 
been submitted by third party consultants. He informed members of the collision 
data, implementation of traffic speed cameras as well as traffic movements. The 
Transport Development Liaison Manager highlighted to members that additional 
traffic which would have been generated by the proposal would be modest and 

Page 9



6 

whilst visibility at the northern junction was not ideal it was not considered that 
proposal would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or that the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network  have been severe such that 
permission should be refused in accordance with paragraph 115 of the NPPF. The 
Highway code requires drivers and road users to be responsible.  
 
Mr Williams assured members that securing conditions would have allowed for 
Dorset Council to manage the proposal accordingly. Mr Hanson, Flood Risk 
Engineer, discussed the prevailing surface water flood risk and fluvial flood risk to 
the site. He also highlighted the work that had been carried out by the applicant to 
assess the existing fluvial flood risk from the adjacent water courses which 
surrounded the site. In addition to this, the engineer also responded to concerns 
regarding the proposed surface water drainage alone with the proposals for the 
surface water outfall.  
 
Members questions and comments 

• Members felt that a site visit during peak times would have been beneficial 

as they would have been disadvantaged due to conflicting views and 

assessments.  

• Clarification regarding non determination deadline and extension of time. It 

was confirmed by officers that the deadline for determination was the 20th 

March 2024 and that an extension of time would need to be agreed with the 

applicant. 

• Members highlighted the importance of a private site visit which could not 

have any public intervention.  

 

 
Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an 
understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer’s report and 
presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, 
a motion to defer to allow for members and officers to undertake a site visit, as 
recommended, was proposed by Cllr Mike Dyer, and seconded by Cllr Barry 
Goringe.  
 
Decision: To defer the proposal to allow for members to undertake a site visit.  
 

71.   P/HOU/2024/00111 - 9 Campion Gardens, Wimborne Minster, BH21 4FH 
 
With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the 
Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning 
policies to members. Photographs of street views, site photographs, floor plans, 
and elevations were shown. Members were assured that due to the limited nature 
of the proposals there would be no impact to the street scene or to the character of 
the area. The Case Officer also highlighted the available parking provision and 
advised that if granted, the loss of one off-street parking space would not 
negatively impact current on-street provision. The recommendation was to grant 
subject to conditions.  
 
 
Public Participation 

Page 10



7 

There was no public participation. 
 
Members questions and comments 

• Members were pleased that the garage door was retained.  

• Clarification regarding ancillary use and noise mitigation.  

 
Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an 
understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer’s report and 
presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, 
a motion to APPROVE the officer’s recommendation to GRANT planning 
permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Shane Bartlett, and seconded 
by Cllr David Morgan.  
 
Decision: To grant in accordance with the officer’s recommendation, subject to 
conditions set out in the report.  
 

72.   P/ADV/2023/07233 - Holton Heath Garage, Wareham Road, Holton Heath, 
BH16 6JW 
 
With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the 
Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning 
policies to members. Photographs of the site location, proposed site plan and 
proposed elevations were shown. Members were provided with details of the 
historic and approved signage and were informed that the proposal was within the 
Green Belt. The recommendation was to grant advertisement consent subject to 
conditions.  
 
Public Participation 
There was no public participation. 
 
 
Members questions and comments 

• Members noted that there had been no objections raised by highways 

officers and the benefits of the reduction of illumination levels compared to 

the extant consent.  

 
 
Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an 
understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer’s report and 
presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, 
a motion to APPROVE the officer’s recommendation to GRANT planning 
permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Shane Bartlett, and seconded 
by Cllr Robin Cook.  
 
Decision: To grant in accordance with the officer’s recommendation subject to 
conditions.  
 

73.   P/FUL/2023/06620 - Land west of The Priests House, Opposite The Ship 
Inn, Dorchester Road, Wool, Wareham, BH20 6EQ. 
 

Page 11



8 

With the aid of a visual presentation including plans and aerial photographs, the 
Case Officer identified the site and explained the proposal and relevant planning 
policies to members. Photographs of the site location and proposed pod elevations 
were shown. Members were informed that the proposal was before committee due 
to it being on Council owned land. The recommendation was to grant planning 
permission subject to conditions set out in the report.  
 
 
Public Participation 
There was no public participation. 
 
 
Members questions and comments 

• Members noted that there had been no objections from the Parish Council 

or Local Ward Members. 

• The proposal would benefit the community.  

 
Having had the opportunity to discuss the merits of the application and an 
understanding of all this entailed; having considered the officer’s report and 
presentation; the written representatives; and what they had heard at the meeting, 
a motion to APPROVE the officer’s recommendation to GRANT planning 
permission as recommended, was proposed by Cllr Shane Bartlett, and seconded 
by Cllr Barry Goringe.  
 
Decision: To grant in accordance with the officer’s recommendation for approval 
subject to the suggested condition.  
 

74.   Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

75.   Exempt Business 
 
There was no exempt business.  
  
 
Decision Sheet 
 
 

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 12.35 pm 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 12



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred from 13 March 2024)  
 

 

Application Number: P/OUT/2022/04113 

Webpage: https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ 

Site address: Land off Blackfield Lane, West Moors, Ferndown, BH22 0NH 

Proposal:  Outline application for erection of a church & care home with 
associated parking & an area for biodiversity enhancement (all 
matters reserved except access and scale) 

Applicant name: Nick Aris  

Case Officer: Naomi Shinkins 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Dyer; Cllr Shortell 

 

Publicity 

expiry date: 
7 Dec 2023 

Officer site 

visit date: 
Various 2022, 2023 

Decision due 

date: 
20 March 2024 

Ext(s) of 

time: 
01 May 2024 

 

UPDATE 24 APRIL 2024 

The following has been updated on this committee report since 13 March 2024 
and additions are included in blue. 

- Changes to the report: 

- Extension of time agreed to 01 May 2024 (required for committee deferral). 

- References to use class D1 now changed to refer to F1 (f) (For, or in 
connection with, public worship or religious instruction) (as set out in 
March 13th committee update). 

- References to ‘close care’, changed to refer to ‘nursing care’ (as set out 
in March 13th committee update). 

- References to ‘church / community hall’ changed to ‘church’ (as advised 
at March 13th committee in response to public representations). 

 - Comments from the Adult Social Care Team added to section 9.7 of the 
report (as set out in March 13th committee update). 

- Reference to the Dorset Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA) added to section 15.6 of the report  (as set out in March 13th 
committee update). 

- Summary of comments from Dorset and Wiltshire Fire Service added to 
section 9.7 of the report (response received April 2024). 

- Summary of local representations received post committee by 1pm 
Monday 15th April. Added to section 9.4 of the report. 

- Origin Transport Consultant post committee note added to list of local 
resident reports submitted in section 9.5 of the report (full note available 
online). 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred from 13 March 2024)  
 

- Conditions added or amended: 

- Renewable energy condition added  (as set out in March 13th committee 
update). 

- Water efficiency condition added  (as set out in March 13th committee 
update). 

- Limit to number of bedrooms (60 bedrooms maximum) added  (as set out 
in March 13th committee update). 

- Grampian condition required for the removal of the pole at Station Road 
junction added  (as set out in March 13th committee update but now referred 
to as a ‘utility pole’ for clarity). 

- Removal of permitted development rights for F1 (f) use class added  (as 
set out in March 13th committee update). 

 - Condition 15 LEMP – amended with addition required in relation to 
Dorset Heathland fires  (as set out in March 13th committee update). 

 

1.0  The application has been referred to committee by the nominated officer in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation Process. 

 

2.0 Summary of recommendation:   
 

Delegate authority to the Head of Planning and the Service Manager for 
Development Management and Enforcement to:  

  
A) Grant permission subject to the following conditions and completion of a 
legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to include 
planning obligations as follows: 

  
- Secure Biodiversity requirements including biodiversity management 
plan and step-in rights. 
 
- Secure Dorset Heathland restrictions required by Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (HRA). 
 
- Secure surface water drainage connection outside of the site boundary 
(or provide proof of ownership, where surface water drainage obligations 
would no longer be required). 

  
OR 

 
B) Refuse permission if the legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed by (6 months from 
the date of committee) or such extended time as agreed by the Head of 
Planning.

Page 14



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

  

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:   
  

• Principle of development is acceptable as set out in this report. 
• The proposal is acceptable in its scale. 

• The proposal is not considered to cause significant harm to neighbouring residential 
amenity that would warrant refusal (subject to detailed design at reserved matters 
stage). 

• The proposal would not have an adverse impact on road safety. 

• The proposal would provide appropriate mitigation for its impact on biodiversity and 
biodiversity enhancement would be provided. 

• Other issues raised by consultees and local residents have been assessed and there 
are not any material planning considerations which would warrant refusal of the 
application.   

 

4.0 Key planning issues    
  

Issue    Conclusion   

Principle of development   Acceptable – within the urban area, which is 
acceptable in accordance with Local Plan Policy 
KS2. 
  

Scale Acceptable - the proposed development will be   
appropriate in scale in relation to the surrounding 
area. 
   

Impact on amenity   Acceptable - the proposed development will not 
have a significant adverse impact on neighbouring 
amenity that would warrant refusal subject to 
design details. 
   

Highways safety  Acceptable-  the proposed development will not 
have highways safety impacts. 
  

Impact on biodiversity    Acceptable- There would be no adverse impact on 
biodiversity and biodiversity enhancements can be 
secured.  
  

Impact on Dorset 
Heathlands 

Acceptable- the proposed development is 
acceptable in relation to impact on Dorset 
Heathlands. 
 

 

5.0    Description of Site and Site History 

5.1  Land at Blackfield Lane is located within the urban area of West Moors.  The site is 
part of an area of agricultural land enclosed by mature hedgerows and situated east 
of properties at Blackfield Lane.  To the north and east is the protected Dorset 

Page 15



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

Healthlands SPA site Holt & West Moors Heaths, which is currently used by the MoD.  
To the south of the site is the Castleman Trailway, a long distance public footpath, 
bridleway and cycleway. The site has been in Agricultural use but has not been 
cultivated for some time. It has since been left fallow and the site has regressed to its 
natural state. 

 
5.2 The site is approximately 2 ha in size, and is generally flat, with a gentle fall from east 

to west. There are boundary tree belts to parts of the north, south and west. Edge 
vegetation to the east is generally hedgerow. The main part of the site is rough 
grassland. 

 
5.3 The site is accessed through Blackfield Lane, a cul-de-sac serving residential 

properties. Currently there is a gated entry to the site at the corner on the south west. 
 

5.4 The site was previously safeguarded for a future residential development; however, 
due to its proximity to the Dorset Heathlands this site is no longer considered to be 
appropriate for general needs housing (e.g. Use class C3).  Consequently, the site 
has simply been identified within the Local Plan Part 1 (2014) as included within the 
urban area with the potential for development for other uses such as care facilities.   

The application site is set out in the Christchurch and east Local Plan under Policy 
VTSW8 as follows: 

 

             

 

Page 16



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 ‘Land at Blackfield Farm will no longer be safeguarded from development and is 
included in the urban area.  
 
Land which forms the Castelman Trailway to the south of Blackfield Farm will be 
included in the Green Belt’. 

 
 

6.0 Proposal 

6.1 The scheme submitted seeks Outline permission for the erection of a church & care 
home with associated parking and an area for biodiversity enhancement. All matters 
are reserved except access and scale. Revised plans were submitted in November 
2023, reducing the scale of the care home from accommodating 80 bedrooms to 
accommodating 60 bedrooms.  
 
The revised plans for the 60 bed care home form the basis for the assessment of this 
report. 

 
6.2 Two buildings are proposed as follows: 
 
  

Use Approx. Floor Area Number of storeys 

F1 (f) – place of worship 
 
 

Approx 115 sqm Single storey 
Approx. 5.5m to ridge 

C2 – Residential 
Institutions  
 

Approx 2313 sqm  Two storey 
Approx 7m to ridge 
 

 
 
6.3 As the application is for Outline consent only (with all matters reserved except for 

access and scale) the proposed design details are unknown and would be determined 
under a Reserved Matters application if Outline consent is granted. It is noted that the 
submitted Design and Access Statement advises that the church and care home 
elements are likely to have a traditional appearance.  

 
6.4 A site plan has been submitted, showing an indicative layout identifying the footprint 

of a 60 bed care home and a community centre, parking, areas for landscaping, 
boundary vegetation and access. However, as the layout is a reserved matter it will 
only be considered in terms of if an acceptable layout can be achieved for the quantum 
of development in principle. 

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History 

 
7.1 Planning history for the site includes: 
 

3/20/1280/OUT- Outline application for a care home, church hall and industrial unit. 
Refused June 2021.  
Reasons for refusal include the following and are detailed at the end of this report: 

Page 17



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• Highways safety 

• Impact on onsite ecology 

• Impact on adjacent heathland ecology 
 
 3/19/1512/OUT- Outline application for a similar proposal to 3/20/1280/OUT, which 
was withdrawn in November 2019. 
 
3/81/0786 - Outline application for residential development. Refused 1981. 
 
3/88/1459 - Outline application for residential development (21 houses). Refused 
1988. A subsequent Planning Appeal was allowed 1990 
(T/APP/U1240/A/89/132210/P7) on the basis of a Section 278 legal obligation to 
improve visibility at the junction of The Avenue & Station Road (development and road 
works not completed).  

 

8.0 Constraints 

Special Area of Conservation - Dorset Heaths  
Special Protection Area - Dorset Heathlands  
Sites of Special Scientific Interest - Holt and West Moors Heaths  
Ramsar Site - Dorset Heathlands  
Grade 4 Agricultural Land  
SSSI Impact Risk Zone  
Green Belt (adjacent to the site) 
Heathland 400m Consultation Area Description: Holt & West Moors Heaths  
Airport Safeguarding - Applies: developments likely to attract birds and all developments 
connected with an aviation use  
Dorset Minerals Consultation Area - Minerals Safeguarding Area  
Tree Preservation Order - TPO Ref: WM/109, Group Ref: T26  
Tree Preservation Order - TPO Ref: WM/71, Group Ref: T5  
Tree Preservation Order - TPO Ref: WM/109, Group Ref: T25  
Tree Preservation Order - TPO Ref: WM/109, Group Ref: T4  
Tree Preservation Order - TPO Ref: WM/109, Group Ref: T24  
 

9.0   Consultation Responses 

9.1 The application was advertised by means of site notices and a press advertisement. 
 
9.2 Revised information was submitted between September 2022 and July 2023, which 

was in response to highways, ecological and drainage consultee concerns raised. It 
was not considered necessary to consult beyond expert consultees in relation to 
revised information submitted, however all submitted information has been available 
on the planning portal and local residents have submitted responses to additional 
information submitted.  

 
9.3 Revised plans were submitted in November 2023 reducing the scale of the care home 

from 80 beds to 60 beds. Additional site notices were erected around the site to 
advertise this with a consultation expiry date of 7 December 2023. A statutory 
consultation period of 30 days was advertised for both site notices, however consultee 
and comments from the public were accepted beyond these periods in both instances. 

Page 18



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
9.4 553 local residents and members of the public submitted objections and comments 

to the various consultations. Due to the volume of comments received the following 
table provides a high level summary of concerns raised only throughout the course of 
the application process. Full comments are available online: 

  
 

 
Proposed Use 
 
 

• Size and density of development is not appropriate. 

• The site is not suitable for industrial/commercial uses as it is 

predominantly a residential area. 

• Inappropriate location and uses proposed on the site. 

• Overdevelopment of application site. 

• Another care home is not considered to be required in the area 

as there are already existing care homes nearby. 

• Another church is not considered to be required in the area. 

• Concerns that the community hall would not be for public use. 

• There are other more suitable sites for this development in the 

surrounding area. 

• Application site is next to Green Belt land and as such the 

proposed uses do not relate. 

• Development out of keeping with the adjoining residential 

neighbourhood. 

• Objection to private churches. 

 

 
Impact on 
character of 
the area 
 

• Development would result in a harmful visual impact. 

• Out of character with surrounding area and not appropriate. 

• Proposed care home too large. 

• Concerns over removal of trees on the character of the area. 

• Reference to the Special Character Area outside of the 

application site, to the west & north-west (Woodside Road, West 

Moors Special Character Area), the proposal’s impact on the 

SCA. 

• Reference to policies in the NPPF – para 130, and concerns that 

the proposal does not comply. 

• Reference to local policies, and concerns that the proposal does 

not comply (HE2, HE3). 

• Loss of countryside. 

• Area has been identified as a Priority Habitat by the EDEP and 

DWT. 

• Another greenspace lost in the area. 

Page 19



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• A car park and large open space in a remote location will attract 

illegal activities at night. 

• Concerns over the impact of development on the Castleman 

Trail. 

 

 
Neighbouring 
amenity 
 

• Harmful impact on neighbouring amenity from development in 

terms of privacy, overlooking, noise, pollution, well-being and 

living conditions of existing occupants. 

• Reduction in outdoor amenity space that residents can use 

outside of their homes. 

• Concern over proximity to Ministry of defence (MOD) land. 

• Concerns over impact on existing neighbouring amenity from use 

of new development. 

• Opening hours of proposed uses not clear, limits should be made 

on the times the church can be open  

• Concerns over disturbance, noise pollution, light pollution and air 

pollution as a result of the proposal and the impacts upon 

amenity for surrounding neighbours. 

• Concerns over the noise impact from and opening hours of the 

church. 

• The church will need soundproofing to protect care home 

residents from disturbance. 

 

 
Access, Traffic 
and Parking 

• Impact of additional traffic and parking as a result of the 

proposal.   

• Poor cycle access for the site’s workforce so impeding any 

climate change benefits. 

• New employment uses would increase parking demand & 

congestion. 

• Concerns over safety of pedestrians at the school, other 

pedestrians and cyclists. 

• Road safety concerns in relation to the proposal’s proximity to 

the school and associated vehicles that pass the school. 

• Existing access/roads are unsuitable & inadequate (too narrow) 

for large vehicles which would require access to the application 

site. 

• Additional vehicular movement, in particular large vehicles 

through the residential area would be excessive. 

Page 20



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• There is only one access point on to the application site, which is 

unsuitable. 

• Roads not suitable for large vehicles including emergency 

vehicles that may use the roads as a result of the proposal. 

• The junction to The Avenue from Station Road, and also the 

junction of Blackfield Lane from The Avenue are not suitable for 

large commercial vehicles.  

• Road junctions that provide access to the roads that lead to the 

site have poor visibility, are dangerous and have inadequate 

sight lines. 

• Public transport is now lacking, and the bus no longer serves the 

road during the day, as the road/junction is too narrow for the 

bus. 

• Current public transport is not sufficient to support the proposed 

development. 

• There have been a number of road traffic accidents in the area 

recently.  

• Concern that the access roads to the proposal would not be in 

line with government advice ‘Manual for Streets’. 

• Insufficient parking provided. 

• Possible increase in damage to the road. 

• Submitted Transport Statement suggests articulated lorries will 
be prevented from the site, and concern over how this would be 
controlled. 

• Reference to previous appeal decision for the site 
(T/APP/U1240/A/89/132210/P7) and inspector’s comments on 
the basis of approval subject to a S278 to improve visibility at the 
junction of The Avenue & Station Road and concerns regarding 
any larger development on the site.  

• In correct and/or misleading information submitted in relation to 
highways. 
 

Housing Need • Concerns that there is a lack of starter homes /affordable 

housing within the proposed scheme. 

 

 
Infrastructure 
 

• Lack of existing infrastructure for proposal. 

• Drainage issues in the area may increase, risking flooding. 

• Concerns existing infrastructure such as power and sewage 

connections do not have capacity to deal with the level and type 

of development. 

Page 21



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• Proposal would increase demand for appointments at the 

Doctors Surgery and put pressure on other local facilities such as 

the school. 

 

Ecology / 
Environment / 
Flooding 
 

• Blackfield Farm is within 400m of heathland. 

• Not appropriate development within a SSSI. 

• Not appropriate as in a Special Area of Conservation (Dorset 

Heaths). 

• Not enough analysis of the existing ecology and the potential 

harm to nature. 

• Insufficient mitigation provided. 

• Loss of habitats & vegetation. 

• Only solution is to de-zone the land for greenbelt 

• Harm to biodiversity in the natural wetland habitat, such as birds, 

reptiles, amphibians, hedgehogs, badgers, dormice, insects and 

invertebrates. 

• Flood risk may increase as a result of the proposal, as site may 

increase existing flooding risk to nearby dwellings. 

• Hazardous material storage and ground contamination. 

• Proximity to fuel storage/MOD fuel storage. 

• Proposal’s impact on global warming. 

• Reference to ecology reports that have identified this land as 
high value to local wildlife. 

• Reference to policies ME1 & ME6 in the Core Strategy and 
comments that the proposal does not comply. 

• May encourage further development adjacent to areas of high 
ecological importance. 
 

Trees 
 

• Concerns over the removal of trees  

• Concerns over whether Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) of 

trees on adjacent sites have been considered. 

 

Construction 
 

• Concerns over increase in noise, air and light pollution, during 

and after construction and the impacts on neighbours. 

 

Other matters  
 

• Application information is unclear and the EIA contradicts the 

Design and Access Statement with information such as floor 

areas. 

• Incorrect and misleading information submitted across a number 

of documents. 

Page 22



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• Application lacks detail with so many matters reserved. 

• No benefits to the local area 

• Decrease in value of properties. 

• No need to build this development as more suitable properties 

will become available after the impacts of Covid-19. 

• Concerns regarding emissions from the proposed facility and 

how this will be monitored. 

• Concerns third parties previously consulted have not been 

consulted. 

• Concerns the application site is situated on contaminated land. 

• Proposal would increase the population of the local area. 

• Diminished quality of life for residents. 

• Builders and private individuals are profiteering from the local 

area. 

• Inadequate provision for families on lower income in the area. 

• Need homes to support low cost housing. 

• Existing care homes are not 100% full in the area. 

• Church buildings are vacant places of worship.  Religious 

organisations should co-opt and share facilities – organised 

religion on the decline 

• Application will lead to building industrial units. 

• A safety analysis is needed for evacuation. 

 

Summary of 
comments 
received post 
committee by 
1pm 15th April 
 (full 
comments 
available 
online) 
 

• Negative impact on ecology on site and adjacent heathlands. 

• Negative impact on road safety. 

• Junction to Station Road is still unsafe and does not meet road 

safety requirements. 

• Relocation of utility pole does not make the junction safe. 

• Not a telegraph pole, it is a main distribution multi way distributer 

power pole. 

• Alternative routes to the site are unsuitable for traffic and access. 

• Concerns regarding traffic noise from the proposed. 

• Guidelines for noise traffic are being ignored. 

• Applicant’s noise impact assessment dismisses noise impact. 

• Another care home is not required in the area. 

• Evidence from the Adult Social Care team comments against the 

need for a care home and the suitability of the location. 

• Need for a care home has not been proven. 

• Type of care home has not been specified. 

Page 23



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• Covenant required to the use of the land to secure close care. 

• Still insufficient amenity space for future occupiers. 

• DC Landscape Officer objects to the application. 

• No need for a church. 

• Funding for ecology area not identified. 

• No explanation how visitors with pets will be prevented from 

using the site. 

• Current use of the site has no regard for onsite ecology. 

• Only a modest change to previously refused application. 

• Scale will impact negatively on the area. 

• Information not shared prior to committee with enough time for 

the public to comment. 

• Emerging local plan identifies the site outside of the settlement 

boundary. 

• Site visit should have taken place sooner. 

• Why were Dorset and Wiltshire fire service consulted after 

committee? 

• Community hall not part of the proposed and references are 

confusing. 

• Separation distances unknown as it is an indicative plan. 

• The process is not following the correct procedures. 

 
9.5 Local residents have also submitted the following reports in objection to the proposed 

developments. These reports have been reviewed by the relevant consultees as set 
out in associated sections of this report. 

 
Highways: 
 

• Traffic Assessment Suitability Report - Sept 2022 

• Response to DC Highways ‘no objection’ – May 2023 

• Transport Technical Note 2 – July 2023 

• Post committee note – 11 April 2024 

Flood Risk:  

• Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) – Sept 2022 

• FRA and Surface Water Management Review – March 2023 

Impact on local residents: 

• Environmental Impact Noise Assessment  - Oct 2022 

• Response to WSP Noise Impact Report – 8 October 2023 

Page 24



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

Ecology: 

• Ecological Concerns – November 2022 

• Ecological Concerns – July 2023 

• BNG Review – September 2023 

9.6 14 letters of support were also received with the following summary of comments (full 
comments available online): 

 

• Will add to the local community subject to traffic calming measures 

• The development would have less impact than a residential development 

• There have been no accidents recorded at the junction to The Avenue 

• Appropriate ecological mitigation can be secured 

• The proposed will provide local jobs and employment 

• The proposed industrial use is acceptable in residential areas 

• Noise from churches is not generally an issue in residential areas 

• A care home is potentially acceptable adjacent to Site of Special Scientific Interest 

(SSSI) 

• Benefits of the proposed outweigh impacts. 

• In need of these facilities to release much needed housing stock 

• Will be a valuable contribution to the local economy and our community 

• Local congregation will have less distance to travel 

• Halls would not be rented to any third parties 

• Traffic movement from the church will be minimal with sufficient parking on-site 

• Hall is in keeping with the local area 

• Gatherings are quiet 

 
9.7 The following consultees have also commented on the application: 
 
[The following is a summary only and full comments are available online] 
 

9.7.1 – West Moors Town Council 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

Objection 

- Contrary to ME1 - sustainable transport, planning and flood risk 

and enhancing the natural environment 

- No local need for the development 

- Environmental impacts – incompatible with residential 

development, impact on wildlife despite mitigation, impact SSSI, 

contaminated land concerns, objections from Environment 

Agency (EA), impacts local medical services, impact of visitors 

to care home 

- Highways safety concerns 

Page 25



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

- Traffic noise/pollution concerns 

- Flood risk concerns  

- Fire risk concerns 

Response 
to 
highways 
comments  

April 2023 

Concerns regarding highways safety and why the development is now 
acceptable when this was previously a refusal 

Response 
to revised 
design 

Nov 2023 

Objection 
 
Members feel the reduction in the scale of the development is 
marginal, so they strongly maintain their previous objection and all 
reasons for it. Request to go to committee if the Officers 
recommendations are at variance to the above. 
 

9.7.2 - Dorset Council Highways 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

 

Defer 
 
Further information required 

Additional 
submission 

March 
2023 

No objection 

With the submitted TRICS (Trip Rate Information Computer System) 
data confirming the low-level traffic generation in the AM and PM peak 
hours, and bearing in mind the uses proposed, the Highway Authority 
considers that the residual cumulative impact of the development 
cannot be thought to be "severe" when consideration is given to 
paragraphs 110 and 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) - July 2021. 

 
Therefore, the Highway Authority has NO OBJECTION, subject to 
condition. 

 

 

9.7.3 - DC Trees & Landscape 

Initial 
submission 

July 2023 

No objection subject to condition 

- No insurmountable tree issues.  

Page 26



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

- However, detail of services will be needed ensuring there’s no 

conflict with the retained trees and also a landscaping scheme 

showing all details of proposed tree planting. 

 

9.7.4- Natural England 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

 

Objection 

Further information required 

Additional 
submission 

June 2023 

Comments 

- Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) to be carried out by the 
Local Authority 

- Reconfirms the retained areas are significant ecological 
interest and functionally linked to adjacent protected sites. 

- Satisfied that the area should not be treated as priority habitat 
- Sand lizards to the northern boundary of the site but suitable 

provision provided on site 
- Appropriate mitigation provided including planting, wildlife 

pond, however, advise a sandbank is provided and secured by 
condition 

- Pet restriction to be secured appropriately 
- Impacts on nightjar to be considered 
- Ecological areas to be retained in perpetuity by an appropriate 

organisation and step-in rights included 

 

Additional 
submission 
in 
response 
to 
neighbour 
comments 
and HRA  

Jan 2024 

No objection subject to condition 
  
Having considered the assessment by Dorset Environmental 
Records Centre (DERC) Natural England (NE) maintains its advice 
as set out in our previous response (email dated 28 June 2023). We 
would however recommend that the scheme is required to include 
the creation of a permanent sandy bank across the northern 
boundary to help provide further opportunities for the host of 
invertebrates reliant on sandy ground specialists. We would also 
reiterate our advice that any permission should secure the provision 
of appropriate monitoring of site condition and appropriate step in 
rights with funding necessary to ensure the long-term management of 
the retained acid grassland areas and ecological mitigation measures 
provided within the developed area. Further, provided these 
measures are in place it is reasonable to conclude that the scheme 
will be able to retain its current ecological function in relation to the 
adjacent Special Area of Conservation(SAC) / SSSI. 

Page 27



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

No objection to submitted appropriate assessment. 

 

 

9.7.5 - Natural Environment Team (NET) 

Initial 
submission 

Feb 2023 

Comments 

Further information required 

 

Additional 
submission 

July 2023 

Comments 

- Sand lizard licence advice required from NE 
- For the purposes of the Metric the grassland which covers 

much of the southern part of the site and northeast corner has 
been inputted as ‘Other neutral grassland’. The central 
northern section is rapidly developing pioneer heathland which 
is to be retained and enhanced within the development. This 
has allowed the scheme to achieve sufficient compensation 
and net gain without the need for offsite or financial 
compensation. 

- No objection to management by the ‘Brookfield Trust’ subject 
to appropriate step-in rights being secured  
 

Additional 
submission 
in 
response 
to 
neighbour 
comments 

Jan 2024 

 

 

Comments  
 
The grassland having not been classified as Priority Habitat was one 
of the concerns raised in a previous NET consultation response, 
because they are a material consideration in planning, and which 
prompted the National Vegetation Classification (NVC) survey to be 
undertaken. Despite the difference in interpretation of the NVC data 
for the grassland habitat, it is important to note that neither 
interpretation of the NVC data places the grassland as being a 
community that translates to a Priority Habitat. As such, we are 
satisfied that the NVC survey, and amended ecology documents, 
address this concern.  
  
In addition, the disparity in interpretation does not materially change 
the output of the Biodiversity Metric. Under the DERC interpretation 
the grassland as a whole, not being Priority Habitat, would be 
inputted as 'Other lowland acid grassland' which creates a reduction 
in the total net percentage change in habitat units from 19.82% to 
18.18%. This difference is not, in our view, significant for the 
purposes of decision making, and we advise that the Ecological 
Impact Assessment (EcIA), Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment 
and Biodiversity Metric can be relied upon.  

Page 28



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

  
The Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) describes 
proposals to manage the grassland in a way that sees a transition to 
a mosaic of acid grassland and lowland heathland with management 
actions including removing Scot's Pine, restricting Heather coverage, 
and a cut and collect regime aimed at reducing nutrient load. Given 
the nature of the management actions, and that the target habitat in 
both scenarios would be 'Other lowland acid grassland' in ‘Good’ 
condition, it appears unlikely that the recommendations given in the 
LEMP would differ significantly on the basis of the two different 
interpretations of the grassland habitat present. Given this we advise 
that this document can also be relied upon for decision making. 
   

9.7.6 - Dorset Wildlife Trust 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

Objection 

- Scope reduced, however care home footprint increased and 

landscape buffer lost 

- Nesting birds should be explicitly addressed in mitigation plan 

- Environmental Statement (ES) not updated to reflect 2012 

invertebrate surveys 

- Supporting habitat will be lost resulting in impact on retained 

habitats 

- Native planting welcomed, however concerns regarding 

maintenance and management 

- Concerns regarding sedum roof and non-native species 

- Soil management not considered in the submitted Construction 

Ecological Management Plan (CEMP). 

- Net gain assessment not available.  

- Consider that the development of the site at this proximity to the 

adjacent heathland and the additional pressure put on the 

retained habitats on site by the partial development of the area 

is unlikely to result in a favourable balance when it comes to 

ensuring that there is no long-term negative impact on 

biodiversity. 

9.7.7 - East Dorset Environment Partnership 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

Objection 

- No policy requirement allocating the land for residential 

development 

- No local need for the proposed 

- Concerns regarding recreational use of retained acid 

grassland 

Page 29



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

- Cumulative impact assessment incomplete 

- Concerns regarding ecology survey information submitted 

- Net gain assessment not available 

- Unacceptable loss of Priority habitat 

- Concerns regarding the use of grasscrete and ecological 

impacts 

- Concerns regarding footpaths through retained acid grassland 

- Landscaping requires further consideration 

- Concern regarding drainage 

- Changes suggested for LEMP 

9.7.8 - Wessex Water 

Initial 
submission 

Jan 2023  

No objection  

- Surface water disposal to the foul sewer is not permitted 

- Wessex Water to review foul sewer network should permission 

be granted due to capacity issues 

9.7.9 - Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) 

Initial 
Submission 
 
Sept 2022 

Holding objection 

Further information required 

 

Additional 
submission 

May 2023 

No objection subject to condition 
 

- The applicant has provided evidence that a surface water 
connection into the watercourse on the southern boundary of the 
site is achievable. Proposed drainage is acceptable subject to 
securing the connection via land ownership or legal agreement. 

- The applicant has provided calculations that show that the 
required surface water attenuation volume can be delivered on 
site.  

- The applicant has provided an acceptable level of detail, for 
outline stage, to demonstrate that a suitable surface water 
management scheme is deliverable for these proposals. 

- Conditions for surface water management details required. 
 

Updated 
Response  

Sept 2023 

No objection subject to condition 
 

- the amendments made to the above response have not resulted in 
any fundamental change to the LLFA’s position with regards to the 
proposed scheme. 

- Highlight that the withdrawal of our holding objection is subject to 
the applicant securing a surface water outfall connection and 

Page 30



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

maintenance agreement through a Section 106 or evidence of 
land ownership where the connection is required. 

 

 

9.7.10 - Dorset Council Environmental Health (EH) 

Initial 
submission 

Oct 2022 

No objection subject to condition 
 

- Air Quality Assessment (AQA) - No objection to submitted 
AQA 

- Church noise – noise mitigation measures as set out in Noise 
Impact Assessment (NIA) required 

- Plant noise – to be conditioned as per NIA 
- Odour – condition required for kitchen extraction systems 
- Lighting – detailed scheme to be secured by condition 
- Construction management – CMS to be secured by condition 
- Contaminated Land – assessed by separate consultant (see 

below) 
- Traffic noise – assessed by independent consultant (see 

below) 
 

 

9.7.11 – WSP (independent traffic noise consultant) 

Response 
to 
neighbour 
NIA 

Nov 2023 

Comments 
 
For reasons set out in the ‘WSP’ NIA report, notwithstanding the 
lack of detailed analysis, the Applicant’s NIA presents a more 
accurate and reasonable overall assessment compared to the 
Residents NIA. 
 

 

9.7.12 – WPA (contaminated land consultant) 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

 

Comments 
 
Further reporting required 

Additional 
submission 

Dec 2022 

No objection subject to condition 
 

- The report from ‘CGL’ dated Jan 2019 indicates appropriate 
site investigation, risk assessment and advice following 
assessment concerning land contamination.  

- No contaminant linkages of concern have been identified and 
there are no recommendations for further consideration.  

- ‘WPA’ notes, however, that the development will be subject to 
a watching brief and a sign off report confirming any 

Page 31



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

discovery and action concerning unexpected finds is to be 
expected. 

 

 
 

9.7.13 – Building Control  

Initial 
submission 

Aug 2022 

No comment 
 

 

9.7.14 – DC Urban Design  

Initial 
submission 

Aug 2022 

No comment 
 

 

9.7.15 – DC Landscape  

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

Objection 
 

- Scale of indicative development would overwhelm the site 
- Opportunities to successfully integrate such Development 

into this Site are constrained by the ecological sensitivities 
 

Revised 
design 

Nov 2023 

 
Objection 
 

- Limited changes 
- Previous comments remain – limited opportunities for 

meaningful landscape 
- Given the ecological sensitivity of the Site – and the related 

landscape constraints I would advise that this layout would 
fail to create a suitably safe, attractive, and stimulating 
environment for Care Home residents. The only ‘views’ would 
be orientated over the car parking areas. Shading is likely to 
be an issue for the eastern and southern aspects. 

- The design of care home external areas is specialised with a 
need to concentrate on specific landscape design principles 
centred around improving the quality of life for residents. The 
layout as shown would provide limited opportunities for such 
design. 

- I also note that, within the LEMP para.6.5, it is suggested that 
the grassland will be accessible to residents and staff from 
the Care Home –via a single ‘mown path’ comprising of only 
‘one loop’ and running to the rear of the Building - in order to 
‘restrict disturbance’. I would advise that this would be wholly 

Page 32



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

impractical and would fail in creating a satisfactory 
environment for residents. 

- With reference the ‘Post Development Habitat Plan’ – I note 
the buffers of ‘dense scrub’ running along the eastern and 
southern peripheries – with acid grassland habitat 
predominating the remainder of the open space. This would 
fail to provide a satisfactory ‘outlook’ for residents. This 
would appear to conflict with local Policy HE2, and NPPF 
Para.130. 

 

 

9.7.16 – DC Environmental Assessment Officer 

Initial 
submission 

Sept 2022 

Comments  
 

- Minor issues with Environmental Statement (ES) submitted 
but concludes ES is still acceptable 

 

 

9.7.17 – DC Adult Social Care 

March 2023 

(summary 
only, full 
comments 
available 
online) 

Comments  
 
Our adult social care strategy ‘Commissioning for A Better Life as 
People Age’ prioritises supporting residents with care needs in a 
home of their own, which can be easily adapted and this includes 
developing more extra care housing.  However, our strategy also 
highlights a need to develop more specialist care homes, offering 
nursing care for residents with higher and complex care and health 
needs. 
 

 

9.7.18 – Dorset and Wiltshire Fire Service 

April 2024 

(summary 
only, full 
comments 
available 
online) 

Comments 
 
Any development on the urban fringe adjacent to protected 
heathland has the potential to create challenges both for firefighting 
and the management of fire risks. The risk of fire spreading from 
a building to the heathland should be managed through the fire risk 
assessment process, both during construction and in occupation. 
This includes adequate controls of any burning/bonfires, 
which are discouraged. 
 
The provision of automatic water suppression / sprinkler protection 
should mitigate this risk during occupation. A suitable fire 
defendable line is recommended around any building adjacent 
to a vegetated area as a protective measure. 
 
The risk of fire spreading from the heathland to an adjacent building 
should be considered within the emergency evacuation and 

Page 33



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

business continuity plan for any building, particularly those housing 
vulnerable occupants. 
 
In the event the planning permission is granted for this development, 
the development would need to be designed and built to meet 
current Building Regulations requirements. The Authority raises the 
profile of these future requirements through this early opportunity 
and requests the comments made under B5 of Approved Document 
B, The Building Regulations 2010 be made available to the 
applicant/planning agent as appropriate. 
 

 
 
 
9.7.19 - The following consultees were also consulted and no response was received: 
 

- Dorset Crime Prevention  
- Ministry of Defence 
- Dorset Waste Services  
- DC Rights of Way Officer 
- DC Economic Development 
- Ramblers Association 
- NHS Dorset (Dorset Integrated Care Board- ICB) 

 

10.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS   
  
Development Plan:   
Christchurch and East Dorset Core Strategy 2014  
East Dorset Local Plan 2002 (saved policies)  

 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan for an area, 
except where material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in this 
case comprises the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan (CED LP) and saved 
policies of the East Dorset Local Plan (EDLP) 2002.  

 
10.2   The following policies are of particular relevance in this case: 

• KS1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• KS2 Settlement Hierarchy 

• KS11 Transport and Development 

• KS12 Parking Provision 

• VTSW8 Blackfield Farm Green Belt Boundaries, West Moors 

• ME3 Sustainable Development Standards for New Development 

• ME4 Renewable Energy Provision for Residential and Non-Residential 
Developments 

• ME1 Safeguarding Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Page 34



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

• HE2 Design of New Development 

• LN3 Affordable housing 

• LN6 Housing  

‘Category C2 health and care related development proposals New social, 
care or health related development proposals, or major extensions to existing 
developments, within the C2 use classification will not be subject to Policy 
LN3 however they will be required to demonstrate that any impacts upon, or 
risks to, the strategic aims and objectives of Dorset County Council and NHS 
Dorset health and social care services have been taken into account and 
mitigated against’. 

• LN7 Community Facilities and Services 

EDLP saved policy HODEV3 supports the delivery of specialist accommodation 
within settlements. Policy DES11 looks to ensure developments respect their 
surroundings. 

 

10.3   Other Material Considerations  

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance:  

Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020 - 2025 SPD (DHPF)  
 
National Policy  

  
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2023 and National 
Planning  
Practice Guidance (NPPG)  

  
Paragraph 11d of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

  
Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 
policies are out-of-date then permission should be granted unless any adverse 
impacts of approval would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the NPPF or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 
development should be restricted.  

  
Most relevant NPPF sections include:  

  
• Section 12 Achieving well-designed and beautiful places  
• Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
• Section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
11.0 Human rights   

 
Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.  
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.  
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property.  

 

Page 35



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the application 
of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party.  

  
12.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty   

 
As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-  
 
• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics  
• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs of other people  
• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.  
 
Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty.  
 
The proposal would result in a church and ‘nursing care’ care home being provided 
which will be required to meet Part M regulations. Details in relation to this will be 
provided at reserved matters stage, however, no disadvantage to persons with 
protected characteristics is anticipated.  

 
13.0 Financial benefits   

  

What  Amount / value  

Material Considerations  

n/a n/a 

Non Material Considerations  

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
£210,862.05 (subject to RM 

details) 

Estimated annual council tax benefit  TBC  

Estimated annual New Homes Bonus 
per residential unit (for first 4 years)  

n/a 

  
 
14.0 Climate Implications  

  
14.1 The proposed will result in a new development on a greenfield site. While the 

development will be new build, given the relatively low scale development, the 
proposal is not considered to have a significant impact on climate change. An area 
for biodiversity enhancement is retained on site and will be secured by legal 
agreement. The use of renewable energy sources will be considered at reserved 
matters stage as recommended under this Outline application. 

 
15.0 Planning Assessment  
 
15.1 Application Type and Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 36



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
15.1.1  As the application is for outline consent only except for access and scale, the 

main issues relation to this application are considered to be: 
 

- The Principle of Development 
- Design with regards to scale only (all other design matters reserved) 
- Access, Highway Impact & Parking 
- Trees 
- Drainage 
- Local Amenity 
- Biodiversity 

 
15.1.2  As noted previously, an application for a similar development, 3/19/1512/OUT, 

was submitted in 2019. This application was screened for Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) requirements under Regulation 5 of the Town and Country 
Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 following this submission. It was considered that 
the application would require an EIA for the following reasons: 

 
- The proposal represents Schedule 2, 10 Infrastructure Projects and (b) Urban 

Development Projects, and is, therefore, Schedule 2 development for the 
purposes of the Regulations.  

 
- The proposed development is to be located on land at Blackfield Lane on the 

edge of the West Moors Urban Area, and is not located in a ‘sensitive area’ in 
terms of the Regulations but is located adjacent to a ‘sensitive area’. 

 
15.1.3  An EIA has been submitted with this application and has been reviewed by the 

Dorset Council EIA Officer. Under the definition of the ‘Environmental Statement’ 
it was confirmed that the submission meets the requirements of Regulation 18(3) 
and Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017. However, this is subject to comments from the 
statutory consultees who consider the technical aspects of the assessment. These 
matters are dealt with further under the relevant sections of the officer report set 
out below. 

 
15.1.4  Based on the screening opinion, it is noted the scope of the EIA submitted is 

focused on Ecology matters. The EIA Officer has confirmed the submitted EIA is 
in line with the required regulations. 

 
 
15.2 Principle of development 
 

15.2.1  This site is within the urban area of West Moors and is identified within the Local 
Plan (2014) as being suitable for development for non-residential uses.   

 

15.2.2  The principle of developing this site for uses such as a church may be 
acceptable; however, any proposals will need to have regard to the requirements 
of policies and the impacts on neighbours. Policy LN7 of the Local Plan (2014) 
supports the development of new community facilities within the urban area of 

Page 37



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

West Moors.  The policy does aim to cluster community facilities and services 
together, however, places of worship, often serve a specific community and their 
siting doesn’t rely on proximity to other community uses. 

 

15.2.3  In principle, this site could be suitable for the development of a C2 care home, as 
long as the development will be unlikely to increase recreational impacts on the 
heathlands. However it is noted a needs assessment has not been submitted 
with the application, identifying the need within this area.  

15.2.4 The Dorset Council Adult Social Care team and NHS were consulted but no 
response was received. Policy LN6 of the CED Local Plan 2014 sets out the 
Council’s strategy on housing for vulnerable people, which includes older people 
and saved East Dorset Local Plan policy HODEV3 supports the delivery of 
specialist accommodation within settlements. The Bournemouth Christchurch 
and Poole (BCP) and Dorset Local Housing Needs Assessment, produced as 
part of the evidence base for the new Dorset Local Plan, identifies a clear need 
for provision of additional nursing and residential care bedspaces, with 2,769 
required across Dorset for the 2021-38 period (paragraph 10.41, page 187). It is 
considered this is a material consideration in the decision-making process. 

15.2.5  Taking into consideration the contribution that this proposal could make to the 
identified need for specialist elderly accommodation, the provision of this 
accommodation to meet an identified need carries significant weight. 

15.2.6  Further to the provision of specialist accommodation for older people, the current 
housing land supply is also considered. The emerging Local Plan has reached 
Regulation 18 of the (Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 stage and includes a policies map and proposed allocations 
towards meeting housing need. Therefore, as detailed under Paragraph 226 of 
the NPPF (December 2023), for decision-making purposes only, the Council is 
only required to identify a minimum of 4 years’ worth of deliverable housing sites. 
The East Dorset area cannot demonstrate a four-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites as required by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
with the current supply position standing at 3.9 years.  This means that for 
applications involving the provision of housing, the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are deemed to be out of date and the 
application should be considered favourably unless the proposal conflicts with 
specified NPPF policies or the adverse impacts would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits (NPPF paragraph 11). 
 

15.2.7 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) notes: 
 

Local planning authorities will need to count housing provided for older people, 
including residential institutions in Use Class C2, as part of their housing land 
supply. This contribution is based on the amount of accommodation released in 
the housing market….. (Housing supply and delivery - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) - 
Paragraph: 035 Reference ID: 68-035-20190722) 

15.2.8 The Government’s ‘Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book’ advises a 
ratio of 1.8 is applied to ‘other communal accommodation’, which includes care 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-supply-and-delivery#calculating


Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

homes. This is based on the national average datasets for these types of 
communal accommodation. On this basis, it is estimated that the provision of 60 
care home bedrooms has the potential to release approx. 33 units of 
accommodation within the district, contributing to the housing supply. This would 
contribute to help deliver a sufficient supply of homes within the Local Plan area, 
where there is currently an insufficient housing land supply, and carries 
significant weight.  

15.2.8 The site is adjacent to protected Dorset Heathlands. The principle of a (class C2) 
‘nursing care’ care home ( Nursing Home)  that meets the requirements of 
Dorset Heathlands Supplementary Planning  Document 2020-2025 (set out in 
the extract below) is not unacceptable in planning terms and therefore does not 
form a reason for refusal. 

 

 

 

 
15.3   Design – Scale  
 
15.3.1  As noted previously, this application is for outline consent with all matters 

reserved except for access and scale. Therefore, in terms of design, the only 
matter for consideration is scale where all other matters such as appearance, 
landscaping and layout would be determined under a reserved matters 
application if outline consent were granted.  

 
15.3.2  In terms of scale, Policy HE2 of the Core Strategy states that new development 

must  in various respects, including its visual impact, be compatible with or 
improve its surroundings. Policy DES11 of the Local Plan states that 
development will only be allowed where, in terms of its form amongst other 
things, if it would respect or enhance its surroundings. Paragraph 135 of the 
NPPF 2023 developments are sympathetic to local character, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting. 

 

Page 39



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

15.3.3  Officers raised initial concerns regarding the scale of the proposed footprint, which 
accommodated an eighty bed care home. The revised design was submitted in 
November 2023, which reduced the footprint to a care home that would 
accommodate sixty bedrooms. The following assessment is based on the reduced 
design. 

 
15.3.4  The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(England) Order 2015 defines scale as: 'the height, width and length of each 
building proposed within the development in relation to its surroundings.’ In terms 
of scale an indicative plan has been submitted as follows: 

 
  

Use Approx. 
Foot 
print 

Number of 
storeys 

Width Length 

Church 
(indicative 
design only) 
 

115 sqm Single storey 
(5.5 m high) 

11m 11m 

Care home 
 
(indicative 
design only) 
 

1150 sqm Single and 
double 
storey 
(3-7 m high) 
 

12-52m (L shape plan) 72m (L 
shape 
plan) 

 
 
15.3.5  Third party concerns have been raised that proposed is over development of the 

site and out of keeping with the character of the area. It is noted these concerns 
have not been overcome by revised plans submitted in November 2023, reducing 
the care home to sixty beds. 

 
15.3.6  The application site is located within the urban area of West Moors and the area 

adjacent is predominantly residential, comprising traditional two storey detached 
dwellings on medium to large plots. The boundary to Pine Walk is well screened 
by mature vegetation, which is to be retained. The boundary to dwellings on 
Blackfield Lane is generally open with low hedging. 

 
15.3.7  Given the proposed two storeys, heights of up to 7m and potential separation 

distances to neighbouring boundaries (currently identified as 19-35m to the site 
boundary bordering the nearest dwellings on Blackfield Lane) it is considered the 
proposed scale is unlikely to have a negative impact on the character of the area. 

 
15.3.8  In response to the initial submission the Dorset Council Landscape Officer raised 

concerns regarding the proposed scale of development on the area of land that 
can be developed given the ecological constraints, in particular the ability to 
provide sufficient landscaping with the level of parking required. The reduced 
scheme to sixty beds in the care home was submitted in response to these 
comments.  

 

Page 40



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

15.3.9  The indicative plans indicates a buffer (7-15m in width) of dense scrub is identified 
to the southern and eastern boundaries of the care home. Parking provision is 34 
spaces for the care home and 25 spaces for the church. As set out later in this 
report, parking provision is above the Dorset Council recommended parking 
standards with an over provision of 9 spaces as shown on the indicative plans. 

 
15.3.10  Elements of landscaping are identified within the scheme, however landscaping is 

not under consideration. It is however noted that the reduced proposal allows for 
additional landscaping. Further to this, with the over provision of parking spaces 
as set out later in this report, could be reduced to enable more space for 
meaningful landscape provision. 

 
15.3.11  Other concerns raised by the Dorset Council Landscape Officer include the 

following: 
 

Landscape Officer Concern Planning Officer Response 

Care home would have an awkward 
relationship with southern and eastern 
boundaries 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application. 
 
 

Limited opportunity for views or 
sympathetic landscaping 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application. 
 
 

Area where care home has been 
reduced is unlikely to be suitable for 
amenity landscaping 
 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application 

Expanse of car park will visually 
dominate  

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application 
 
Current over provision of 9 car parking 
spaces allowing potential for another 
113m2 of landscaping / open space.  
 

The layout would fail to create a 
suitably safe, attractive, and 
stimulating environment for Care Home 
residents. The only ‘views’ would be 
orientated over the car parking areas. 
Shading is likely to be an issue for the 
eastern and southern aspects. 
 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application 
 

There are clear conflicts between 
ecological ‘buffers’ and the need to 
create ‘attractive areas with formal 
landscaping and seating provision’. A 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application 
 

Page 41



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

‘formalised version’ of the heather and 
acid grassland mosaic would not be an 
effective form of landscaping around 
the Care Home or church. 
 

The design of care home external 
areas is specialised with a need to 
concentrate on specific landscape 
design principles centred around 
improving the quality of life for 
residents. The layout as shown would 
provide limited opportunities for such 
design. 
 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application 
 

It is suggested that the grassland will 
be accessible to residents and staff 
from the Care Home –via a single 
‘mown path’ comprising of only ‘one 
loop’ and running to the rear of the 
building - in order to ‘restrict 
disturbance’. I would advise that this 
would be wholly impractical and would 
fail in creating a satisfactory 
environment for residents. 
 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application. 
 

 

The buffers of ‘dense scrub’ running 

along the eastern and southern 
peripheries – with acid grassland 
habitat predominating the remainder of 
the open space. This would fail to 
provide a satisfactory ‘outlook’ for 
residents. 
 

Indicative layout only – layout and 
design detail not under consideration in 
this application. 
 

 
15.3.12  While the above concerns are noted this can be addressed at reserved matters 

stage, potentially with a revised orientation of the care home, relocation of the 
church and revised parking, landscaping and detailed design. The Planning 
Officer is satisfied there is sufficient space on site to accommodate the scale of 
the proposed development and still provide sufficient amenity for future 
occupiers. The indicative plan is not listed as an approved plan and an 
informative has been included to advise indicative plans are not considered 
acceptable for a reserved matters application.  

 
15.3.13 It is noted that the previously refused application included a reason for refusal 

based on scale as a result of ecological constraints and requirements to 
accommodate development of the proposed scale, in particular the proposed care 
home, together with the need to provide a satisfactory standard of residential 
amenity for residents. This reason for refusal has been overcome where officers 
are satisfied sufficient amenity space can be provided on site. It is also noted both 
Natural England and NET are satisfied that mown paths can be provided within 

Page 42



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

the ecologically enhanced areas, allowing residents access to additional amenity 
space.  

 
15.3.14  Third party concerns have been raised that the proposed would impact negatively 

on the character of the area, including the Special Character Area outside of the 
application site, to the west & north-west (Woodside Road, West Moors Special 
Character Area). While it is acknowledged the surrounding area is a residential 
area and that the indicative foot print of the care home is larger, given the size of 
the site; single and two storey nature of the proposed; separation distance to 
boundaries; potential for landscaping; and existing vegetation retained to the 
boundaries; the impact on the character of the area would largely be in relation to 
the appearance, which would be considered under a reserved matter application 
if outline permission is granted.  

 
15.3.15  In summary, in terms of design only the matter of scale (height, width, length) is 

being considered under this outline application. As set out above the proposed 
scale of the sixty bed care home and single storey church is considered acceptable 
and accords with Policy HE2 of the Core Strategy and relevant policies set out in 
section 12 of the NPPF 2023. 

 
15.4 Access, Highways Safety and Parking 
 
15.4.1  Paragraph 4.46 of the pre-amble Policy KS11 states: 
 

A primary planning consideration is to ensure that development proposals achieve 
a suitable connection to the highway that is safe for pedestrians, cyclists, and 
occupants of vehicles. Equally important is the need to ensure that development 
related trips do not create new or exacerbate existing highway safety issues. All 
new development is required to address the transport implications of that 
development. 

 
15.4.2  Paragraph 115 of the NPPF 2023 states: 
 

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
15.4.3  A transport statement has been submitted in support of the application, and 

additional information was requested by the Highways Authority. The Transport 
Statement submitted concludes that “the proposed location of the development 
has been shown to be acceptable in terms of the lack of any resultant local 
highway impacts. There are no pressing capacity or safety concerns that can be 
considered “severe” as described within the National Planning Policy Framework.” 
The Highways Authority has been consulted on this information. 

 
15.4.4  Third party concerns have been raised that proposed would create a number of 

highway related concerns including insufficient parking and impact on highways 
safety. Local residents have commissioned their own transport assessments and 
have submitted technical notes in response to the planning application and Dorset 
Council Highways responses to the application. The latest technical note was 

Page 43



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

submitted in July 2023 and suggested that the planning application would generate 
an additional 196 daily vehicle movements (13 two-way movements in the AM and 
14 two-way movements in the PM peak periods).  It stated that “It is our 
professional opinion that this application therefore still has an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety which means that safe and suitable access, in line with 
Paragraph 110, cannot be achieved and it should be recommended for refusal on 
highway grounds as it would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, in 
line with Paragraph 111 of NPPF.”  

 
[Officer note: references to the NPPF in third party reports are from 2019, where 
reports were submitted prior to December 2023]. 

 
15.4.5  In terms of its impact on highway safety, with the provision of additional information 

as requested by the Highway Authority, they have advised: 

With the submitted TRICS data confirming the low-level traffic generation in the 
AM and PM peak hours, and bearing in mind the uses proposed, the Highway 
Authority considers that the residual cumulative impact of the development 
cannot be thought to be "severe" when consideration is given to paragraphs 110 
and 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - July 2021. 
Therefore, the Highway Authority has NO OBJECTION, subject to condition. 

 [Officer note: references to the NPPF in Highways consultee response are from 
2019, where reports were submitted prior to December 2023]. 

 
15.4.6  In response to the latest local resident submission, ‘Origin Technical Note 2’, the 

Highway Authority have provided the following advice: 
 

The ‘Origin’ report submitted by local residents suggests that no further TRICS 
data has been submitted but this is incorrect.  The applicant provided a document 
entitled “Predicted Trip Rates Via TRICs Data” on 25 January 2023 which provided 
tabulated trip rates that purported to have been derived from a TRICS analysis, 
although no supporting data was provided. 

 
The Highway Authority have advised comparing this data with that previously 
provided by ‘Origin’ and Highway’s own TRICS analysis, they came to the 
conclusion that the findings were broadly similar and that they could be 
considered to provide a valid prediction of trip generation.  Hence, the reference 
to submitted TRICS data in the final observation recommending conditional 
approval. 

 
It is noted, the Highway Authority are in agreement with ‘Origin’ that the proposal 
will generate additional trips onto the local highway network at a level below that 
previously identified for the refused application which included light industrial 
units.  However, the Highway Authority notes Origin’s analysis fails to focus on is 
the fact that not only have the daily movements decreased but that peak hour 
movements are lower, with the peak periods of traffic for the care home and 
church uses falling outside of the AM and PM peak traffic periods (08:00 to 
09:00) and 17:00 to 18:00).  The church generates the most traffic movements 
between 19:00 and 20:00 on a weekday whilst the care home is busiest between 
15:00 and 16:00). 

Page 44



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
The response to the flow distribution query was vaguely answered by the 
applicant but we are of the opinion that not all traffic will choose to use the 
Station Road/The Avenue junction so the impact on this junction will, again, be 
lessened. 

 
TRICS analysis by all parties suggest that in the peak traffic periods around 12 to 
15 vehicles could use the Station Road/The Avenue junction, that’s if all drivers 
choose to drive through it.  Of those movements, half could be turning left or right 
out of it, so 6 to 7 vehicles, or one every ten minutes. 

 
It is on this basis that the Highway Authority feel that we cannot substantiate a 
highway refusal based on the lack of visibility to the north of the junction as we 
don’t feel that it’s severe when consideration is given to the NPPF. 

 
The Highway Authority previously discussed the possible uses of the site with 
the planning officer after the previous application was refused and are aware of 
the fact that the site is not safeguarded from development,  it is included in the 
urban area and that the proposed uses could well be considered to be policy 
compliant.  As such, the site has the potential to generate traffic and the 
Highways Authority felt that the currently proposed uses could be the best in 
terms of lower levels of trip creation and impact upon neighbouring amenity. 

 
 
15.4.7  Policy KS12 states that adequate vehicle and bicycle parking should be provided 

to serve new development. Dorset Council parking guidelines advise on levels of 
parking for various planning uses. The following table compares the guidance to 
the proposed parking: 

 

Use & floor Area Dorset Council Parking 
Guidelines 

Proposed Parking 

F1 (f) – public 
worship or religious 
instruction 
 
115 sqm 
 

 
1 per 5m2= 23 

 
25 
 
(over provision of 2 
spaces) 

C2 – Residential 
Institutions 
 
60 beds 

 
1 per 4 bed + 1 per 2 full time 
staff  =  
 
15 + 12 = 27 
 
[Officer note – employee 
numbers not provided. 
Online research advises 
there are no minimum 
staffing requirements but a 
ratio of 1 member of staff to 

 
34 
 
(over provision of 7 
spaces) 

Page 45



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

5-7 beds is an average 
staffing for care homes ] 
 

 
15.4.8 Indicative parking provision is considered to be an over provision in accordance 

with the Dorset Council parking guidance. As noted previously, this over provision 
could be used as landscaping space as part of a detailed design to be submitted 
under a reserved matters application. Officers are satisfied there is sufficient space 
on site to accommodate the level of parking required for the scale of development 
proposed and is considered acceptable. 

 
15.4.9  Based on the above, proposed access, parking and highways implications are 

considered acceptable and accord with Core Strategy policies KS11 and KS12. 
 
 
15.5 Trees 
 

15.5.1  Policy HE3 of the Core Strategy notes development needs to protect and seek to 
enhance the landscape character of the area. Section 15 of the NPPF 2023 aims 
to protect the natural environment. 

15.5.2  Third party concerns have been raised that the removal of existing trees is 
unacceptable and that the proposed would impact negatively protected trees. 

15.5.3  While there are no protected trees on the site, there are protected trees on sites 
adjacent. The site is mostly grassland with heathland scrub along the eastern 
boundary and a mixed species tree belt to its southern boundary. Standing 
adjacent the site access are a number of establishing Birch, which are protected. 
Protected trees are also located on adjacent sites to the west. 

15.5.4  A tree survey and tree protection information has been submitted in support of 
the application and the Dorset Council Tree Officer was consulted. 

 
15.5.5  The Tree Officer has advised there are no insurmountable tree issues. However, 

detail of services will be needed ensuring there’s no conflict with the retained 
trees and also a landscaping scheme showing all details of proposed tree 
planting, which can be secured by condition. Landscaping details are required 
under a future reserved matters condition. 

 

15.5.6  The proposed development in relation to tree implications are considered 
acceptable and accord with Core Strategy policies HE2 and HE3. 

 
 
15.6 Drainage  
 
15.6.1  The application site is within a flood risk zone1, defined as having an annual 

exceedance (AEP) of flooding lower than 0.1% (1 in 1000 year event). A Flood 
Risk Assessment (FRA) is not usually required in FZ 1 unless the application is 
more than 1ha. As the site is approx. 2ha an FRA has been submitted in support 
of the application. A Topographic Survey and Ground & Water Desk Study Report 

Page 46



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

have also been submitted. The site is not within a ground water flood risk area. 
The Dorset Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) has been updated 
and published in March 2024. The changes to the SFRA do not impact the 
application site and no further information is required.  

 
15.6.2  Third party concerns have been raised that the proposed would increase flood risk 

to the area and that existing infrastructure does not have capacity to take 
additional development. Local residents have submitted their own flood risk 
assessment information. Third party concerns have also been raised that the land 
required for the drainage connection is not within the ownership of the applicant, 
despite submitted documents stating it is. As set out below, officers are aware the 
land in question is not in the ownership of the applicant, but evidence has been 
submitted there is an intention to buy the land if planning permission is granted. 

 
15.6.3  The DC Lead Flood Authority (LFA) have been consulted and noted that whilst the 

site of the proposal is shown to fall withing Flood Zone 1 and is not at risk from 
any modelled flood risk from Ordinary Watercourses or Main Rivers. Consideration 
of the Environment Agency’s (EA) Risk of Flooding from Surface Water (RoFfSW) 
mapping indicates that there is a risk of pluvial flooding to the north west part of 
the site at the 1-in-1000-year event but not at the higher probability 1-in-30 or 1-
in-100-year events. Local residents have also confirmed anecdotally, that during 
rainfall events surface water frequently flows from the development site (which is 
currently greenfield) and onto Blackfield Lane, through the field entrance. This 
suggests that onsite surface water flooding occurs more frequently than the EA 
RofFfSW mapping indicates. 

 
15.6.4  It is proposed to attenuate surface water from the development site and discharge 

at a greenfield rates and volumes (or less) into a new open ditch that will connect 
to the existing land drainage network on land which is currently outside of the red 
line boundary and out of the control of the applicant. 

 
15.6.5  The LFA initially advised the following information was required: 
 

- Evidence was not provided to demonstrate that the land south of the 
development site is within the ownership of the developer or that permission 
would be given for a new surface water outfall connection to the watercourse 
south of the site. 

- Further evidence requested to provide clarification that the required 
attenuation volume can be delivered on site. 

 
15.6.6  In response to additional information submitted the LFA advised: 
 

Following submission of the updated FRA, we can now acknowledge the 
following: 
 
- The applicant is intending to purchase the adjacent land south of the 
development site should planning permission for the development be granted. 
- The applicant has provided calculations that show that the required surface 
water attenuation volume can be delivered on site. 
 

Page 47



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

In addition to the above, the LLFA has received further advice from Dorset 
Council legal department that it will be possible for the applicant to secure the 
proposed connection into the offsite watercourse, next to the southern boundary 
of the site, through a Section 106 agreement or alternatively through the 
provision of evidence of land ownership where the connection is required. 

 
15.6.7  In response to the local resident’s FRA report submitted, the LFA have advised: 
 

Since our previous consultation response, the LLFA has been made aware of a 
report by Hydrotec and Engineering Consultants (HEC) dated March 2023 and 
titled ‘FRA and surface water management review’. It is the LLFA’s 
understanding that this report has been put together at the request of some local 
residents and it provides a peer review of the applicant’s own surface water 
drainage strategy. Please note, the LLFA is not certain which issue of the Corner 
Water Consulting FRA this document is a review of but as this document was 
issued in March, we can assume that it is for a version prior to the most recent 
Fifth issue. 
 
The author of the Hydrotec report concludes that the applicant’s own FRA report 
‘follows the NPPF, EA and LLFA flood risk planning guidance, which is based 
upon Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) - the government’s planning policies for 
England (2021).’ However, it also highlights a number of key concerns and the 
LLFA has been asked to make comment on how the applicant’s FRA/drainage 
strategy proposes to address each of these. 
 
1) ‘The issue of surface water generated off-site and flowing onto the 
development need to be considered in the proposed drainage strategy otherwise 
the proposed development would be susceptible to the pluvial flood risk during 
its design life. 
 
The LLFA considers that the applicant has considered existing off-site surface 
and fluvial flood risk. Available EA modelling data has been reviewed and the 
applicant has also provided the results of some survey work. This ground level 
data along parts of the site boundaries provides sufficient evidence that 
significant surface/fluvial flooding from offsite should not enter the site. The 
applicant has also provided assurances within their FRA that existing ground 
levels will be maintained in order to mitigate against the risk of flooding from 
the nearby watercourses. 
 
In addition to the assurances within the FRA, the LLFA will also be 
recommending that an additional condition is included should the application be 
approved, to ensure that the applicant constructs the new buildings with a 
minimum floor level of 300mm above ground level. This will provide an additional 
flood risk resilience measure for the new development. 
 
2) Also the Hydrotec report recommends that ‘consent of confirmation from 
Wessex Water is required to discharge the excess runoff into the existing 
drainage network without surcharge or downstream flooding.’ 
 

Page 48



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

The LLFA advises that further consent from Wessex Water should not be 
required at this stage, as the applicant is not proposing a new direct surface 
water connection into a Wessex Water asset. Reference to Wessex Water 
correspondence shows that their preference is for this development to discharge 
surface water to local land drainage (watercourse) as proposed by the 
developer. 
 
Also, the applicant is proposing to attenuate surface water from the development 
on site and to discharge surface water at greenfield rates for all rainfall events up 
to the 1-in-100 year plus 45% climate change event and this proposal meets with 
the required standards. If the applicant constructs and maintains the 
development to the proposed standards the LLFA would not expect to see 
increased runoff entering the existing drainage network. 
 
The LLFA also notes the photographs of downstream flooding from 2013 
included in the report. These pictures show some of the flooding that has 
previously occurred downstream of the development site and highlight the 
reason why it is important that the existing off-site flood risk is not made any 
worse by the proposed development. However, it is also important to be aware 
that these pictures do not show flooding within the red line boundary of 
development site. 

 
15.6.8  Third party concerns have also been raised that the applicant does not own the 

land where the proposed drainage outfall will be. The applicant has advised they 
intend to buy the land, however this is not sufficient in terms of granting planning 
permission, where it cannot be guaranteed the outfall can be secured. As noted in 
the LFA response above, the Dorset Council Legal Team have advised it will be 
possible for the applicant to secure the proposed connection into the offsite 
watercourse, next to the southern boundary of the site, through a Section 106 
agreement or alternatively through the provision of evidence of land ownership 
where the connection is required. This is set out in the officer recommendation. 

 
15.6.9  The Environment Agency have also been consulted. While they raised initial 

concerns due to a lack of information in relation to foul drainage, they have raised 
no objection to the proposed as it is confirmed it is proposed to connect public 
mains sewer. This is subject to a condition in relation to foul drainage at reserved 
matters stage, which has been added to this report.  

 
15.6.10  In relation foul drainage, third party concerns have been raised regarding existing 

sewer systems would require upgrading and would cause a major disturbance to 
the area. Wessex Water have been consulted and raised no objection. However, 
they have advised that the foul sewer network would need to be reviewed should 
permission be granted due to capacity issues, however disruption to the area as 
a result of this is not material planning consideration. 

 
15.6.11 Based on the above the proposed surface water and foul drainage is considered 

acceptable. Therefore, the proposed in considered acceptable in accordance with 
ME6 of the Core Strategy. 

 

15.7 Local Amenity and Standard of Accommodation 

Page 49



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
15.7.1  Policy HE2 of the Core Strategy states that new development should be 

compatible with or improve its surroundings in relation to nearby properties and 
general disturbance to amenity and paragraph 135 of the NPPF 2023 notes (inter-
alia): 

 
Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 
life or community cohesion and resilience.  

 
15.7.2  Third party concerns have been raised that the proposed would have a harmful 

impact on neighbouring amenity in terms of privacy, overlooking, noise, pollution, 

well-being and living conditions of existing occupants. 

 
 Amenity 
 
15.7.3  The proposed scale and separation distances to neighbouring properties is as 

follows: 
 

Use Approx. 
Foot print 

Number of 
storeys 

Distance to closest 
neighbouring 
boundary 

Church 
 

115 sqm Single storey 
(5m) 

19m 

Care home 1150 sqm Single and 
double storey 
(3-7m) 
 

35m 

 
As noted previously, the boundary to Pine Walk is well screened by mature 
vegetation, which is to be retained. The boundary to dwellings on Blackfield Lane 
is generally open with low hedging. Given the proposed number of storeys, height 
and potential separation distances to neighbouring boundaries it is considered the 
proposed scale is unlikely to have a negative impact on neighbouring properties. 

 
 Noise 
 
15.7.4  A Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) was submitted with the application. In 

response to this, local residents commissioned and submitted their own NIA.  
 
15.7.5  The Dorset Council Environmental Heath (EH) Officer was consulted on all NIA 

documents received and has advised on the following aspects: 
 
  

Church noise In accordance with the noise assessment due to the 
planned hours of use of the church hall which includes a 

Page 50



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

service with hymns every Sunday at 6am noise mitigation 
measures will be required. The mitigation measures 
detailed at point 6.4 must be undertaken and I suggest a 
suitable condition to ensure they are implemented. 
 

Plant noise The assessment provides a cumulative operational plant 
noise limit for the site. However further assessment will be 
required once the quantity, specification and location of 
plant has been determined. I suggest a suitable condition 
to ensure that the process as described by the noise 
consultant at point 8 of the noise assessment is 
implemented. 
 

Traffic noise The noise consultant has used the Department of 
Transport, Calculation of Traffic Noise (CRTN) to predict 
LA10 noise levels at the façade of nearby residents over 
an 18 hour period (6:00 – 24:00) and then refers to the 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) document 
LA111 – noise and vibration to consider the magnitude of 
change in LA10 noise levels due to the proposed 
introduction of new traffic and concluded there will not be a 
significant effect. 
 
The consultant then looks specifically at the maximum 
noise levels of vehicles passing nearby residents whilst 
attending the proposed church service at 6am on a Sunday 
morning. The predicted LAFmax levels are 63 to 65 
LAmax. The consultant then refers to the World Health 
Organisation (WHO): 1999:Guidelines for Community 
Noise which recommend that maximum noise levels should 
not go above 60 LAFmax at the façade of a residential 
property during the night period of (23:00-07:00) and 
correctly notes that the predicted levels exceed this by 3-
5db.  
 
The WHO guidelines also recommend that LAFmax levels 
should not go above 45LAFmax within a bedroom during 
the night period. If residents have their windows open at 
night the recommended LAFmax level will be exceeded by 
3-5dB, but if windows are closed the recommended level 
will not be exceeded. The WHO 1999 guidelines also state 
that “For a good sleep, it is believed that indoor sound 
pressure levels should not exceed approximately 45 dB 
LAFmax more than 10-15 times per night” . The 
assessment predicts there will be 12 cars attending the 
church service for 6am, but there it also likely to be other 
traffic passing at night for example shift workers for the 
care home. The consultant comments that “The calculated 
noise level maxima are not greater than those which would 
occur on most typical residential streets, where a small 

Page 51



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

number of vehicle movements at in the early morning 
period are not unusual. Overall it is considered that this 
would not cause a significant adverse effect.” 
 
Environmental Health note that the traffic to and from the 
care home and church may not be unusual for a 
residential street, however the introduction of traffic to and 
from the proposed site will be noticeable to existing 
residents and the maximum noise levels of any traffic 
passing residential properties at night may have the 
potential for an adverse effect depending on the number of 
traffic movements. Environmental Health are unable to 
comment on the likely traffic use. 
 

 
15.7.6  It is considered that noise from the church and plant can be dealt with by 

condition. Based on the response to traffic noise from the EH Officer it was 
considered necessary to employ the services of an independent consultant to 
review the NIA from both the applicant and local residents. 

 

15.7.7  Traffic consultants, WSP, were commissioned by the Council to review both NIA 
submissions from the applicant and from local residents. A full report is available 
online and WSP have concluded the following: 

 

Considering the above guidance in relation to the situation at Blackfield Lane and 
the conclusions presented in the Applicant NIA and Residents NIA, it is our 
opinion that: 
 
- The Applicant NIA notes that the predicted noise maxima from individual 

vehicle movements marginally exceed the WHO guideline values (60 dB 
LAFmax outside or 45 dB LAFmax inside) and concludes that “this would not 
have a significant adverse effect, given the relatively small number of 
individual events”. The truth of this statement relies upon the definition of the 
words “significant adverse”. In accordance with the guidance detailed above, 
the noise impact could not be regarded as negligible, but taking into account 
the predicted maxima and number of occurrences, the impact could be 
considered to be minor and adverse. 

- The Residents NIA concludes that “on the basis of the predicted road traffic 
movement associated with the development: there will be a significant 
adverse effect to health and the nearest sensitive premises”. In accordance 
with the guidance detailed above, we do not believe that “a significant adverse 
effect to health” is demonstrated and therefore the conclusion is not justified. 

- The situation is more nuanced than the assessments provided in the two 
NIAs. The potential noise impact will not be negligible; however, the impact 
will not present a significant adverse effect to health. It is our opinion that the 
noise impact will be minor or of marginal significance, based on the 
information presented in the NIAs. 
 

Page 52



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

For these reasons, it is our opinion that, notwithstanding the lack of detailed 
analysis, the Applicant NIA presents a more accurate and reasonable overall 
assessment compared to the Residents NIA. 

 

15.7.8  Local residents provided a further response to the report submitted by WSP 
raising the following queries and the response is provided in the following table: 

 

Local resident response WSP / Planning Officer Response 

The consultant does not explain how he 
is qualified in Noise impact and the 
disturbance such noise has upon 
individuals. 
 

Officers are satisfied that the WSP 
report was carried out by a suitably 
qualified professional. 
 

The published report does not include 
“Appendix A” which is part of the report. 

WSP have advised: 
 
The reference to “Appendix A of this 
document” does not refer to an appendix 
to my response – it refers to the 
Appendix of the document I was 
referencing in the previous sentence.  
 

The TRICS data supplied by the 
applicant and considered by the 
consultant is wrong 

WSP have advised: 
 
Re TRICS data and discrepancy in 
assumed traffic flows (applicant vs 
objectors data): This was noted and 
commented on in my response (Page 1) 
and the difference in projected noise 
impact is minimal.  
 

Noise Impact upon Residents in 
Existing Properties. 
 
 
  

WSP have advised: 
 
Re Impact Assessment: Calculations 
were undertaken for the typical set back 
distance of the properties. If we were to 
undertake calculations for each and 
every individual property it would take a 
lot more time. Also, it is worth noting that 
the relevant distance is that between the 
traffic line and the building façade, not 
the corner of the property. No data was 
provided on traffic speeds – My 
assumption of 30km/h seems 
reasonable given the carriageway 
alignment.  
 

Blackfield Lane is not an “Average 
Urban Street” as described by the 
consultant 

WSP have advised: 
 
There seems to be some 
misunderstanding about the use of the 

Page 53



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

word “urban”. Our report does not refer 
to Blackfields Lane as being “urban”. 
The word “urban” occurs in a reference 
to the one of the guidance. 
 

 
 
15.7.9  Based on the advice of independent consultants it is considered the proposed 

development is acceptable in relation to noise from traffic and impact on 
neighbouring amenity and would not warrant refusal. 

 
Air Quality 

 

15.7.10  Third party concerns have been raised that this development will have an 
unacceptably deleterious effect on neighbours in terms of air quality from 
increased road traffic seeking to access the completed development. 

15.7.11  An Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) has been submitted as part of the 
application and reviewed by the Environmental Health Officer, who advised: 

I have viewed “Air Quality Assessment, Blackfield Lane, Dorset, J0634, 
J0634/1/F1, dated 25th March 2022, by Air quality Assessments Ltd.” I have no 
adverse comments to make and agree with the conclusions that in accordance 
with recognised guidance criteria the air quality effect is considered to be 
insignificant and therefore a detailed assessment of the air quality impacts of the 
development on the surrounding area is not required. 

 

15.7.12  The proposed is not considered to have a negative impact on neighbouring 
amenity in terms of air quality. 

 
15.7.13  To conclude in relation to impact on neighbouring amenity – while it is 

acknowledged the intensified use will have some impact on neighbouring 
amenity, it is not to an extent that would warrant refusal and the proposed is 
therefore considered to accord with HE2 of the Core Strategy subject to 
conditions. 

 
15.8 Biodiversity 
 
15.8.1  The application site adjoins the boundary of the Holt and West Moors Heath Site 

of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The SSSI is also a part of the Dorset 
Heathlands Special Protection Area (SPA) on account of rare or vulnerable 
heathland bird species such as nightjar and Dartford warbler. It is also part of the 
Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is notified for its 
vulnerable heathland and associated habitats, and some individual species such 
as sand lizard and smooth snake. In addition, the SSSI is listed as a Ramsar site 
for its heathland wetlands and associated rare wetland species such as marsh 
gentian. Listed Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar 
Convention (Ramsar) are protected as a matter of Government policy (National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraph 176). 

 

Page 54



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

15.8.2  Third party concerns have been raised that the proposed would impact negatively 
on existing flora and fauna on the site and protected sites in the surrounding area.   

 
15.8.3  Policy ME1 of the Core Strategy aims to protect, maintain and enhance the 

condition of all types of nature conservation sites, habitats and species within their 
ecological networks including: 

 
- Internationally designated sites (SPA, SAC, Ramsar)  
- Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)  
- Sites of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI)  
- Local Nature Reserves Priority species and habitats  
- Important geological and geomorphological sites  
- Riverine and coastal habitats  
- Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 

 
15.8.4  Section 15 of NPPF 2023 aims to conserve and enhance the natural environment. 

Paragraph 180 (d) notes planning policies and decisions should contribute to the 
natural environment by : 

 
‘minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 
future pressures.’ 

 
Dorset Heathlands 
 
15.8.5 The application site is adjacent to Dorset Heathland as previously noted. The 

proposal for a 60 bed care home and church, in combination with other plans 
and projects and in the absence of avoidance and mitigation measures, is likely 
to have a significant effect on the site. It has therefore been necessary for the 
Council, as the appropriate authority, to undertake an appropriate assessment of 
the implications for the protected site, in view of the site’s conservation 
objectives. 

 
15.8.6 The appropriate assessment (AA) has concluded that the application is likely to 

have a significant effect on protected sites as set out in the AA accompanying 
this report. 

 
15.8.7 According to the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-25, residential 

development within 400m of the Dorset Heaths European Site is not permitted 
due to impacts upon the designation. However, residential institutions which fall 
under C2 use class may be permitted under some circumstances, providing that 
the necessary mitigation is delivered. 
 
The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-25 requires the following 
mitigation to be delivered in order to ensure that the development will not result 
in further recreational pressure upon the Dorset Heaths: 
 
 -  24 hour nursing care residents; 
-  Age restriction of 60+; 
-  Prevention of care home becoming open market housing; 

Page 55



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

-  Preventing the use of on-site car parking for public use through enforcement 
and design; and 
- No pets. 

 
In relation to ecology on site that is associated with the adjacent Dorset 
Heathlands, the following mitigation is secured: 

 
- planning obligations to secure monitoring and step-in rights 
- condition securing the LEMP and CEMP 
- condition for a sandy bank to be provided to the northern boundary for 
invertebrates on site 
 

15.8.8 The applicant has agreed to the above restrictions, which will be secured by a 
Section 106  legal agreement or condition. Based on securing this mitigation, the 
proposed is considered acceptable in relation to Dorset Heathlands. 

 

15.8.9 The adopted Dorset Heathlands Interim Air Quality Strategy 2020-25 SPD 
provides an approach to addressing the adverse effects of airborne nitrogen 
upon the Dorset Heathlands European Site. The strategy suggests a series of 
mitigation measures, paid for through developer contributions. The types of 
measure include direct measures targeting vehicle emissions adjacent to 
heathland. These include projects to encourage modal shift to other forms of 
transport, reduce vehicle speeds adjacent to heathlands, encourage the use of 
zero emission vehicles and through heathland management alongside roads. 
The strategy also addresses wider measures to reduce nitrogen deposition from 
agricultural land near to heathlands, or the re-siting or cleaning up of certain 
operations that generate emissions. The proposed development will provide a 
financial contribution to the Dorset Heathlands Interim Air Quality Strategy 2020-
25 SPD through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The contribution is 
considered sufficient to address the potential air quality impacts upon the Dorset 
Heaths. 

 
15.8.10 The proposed development will result in the loss of habitat adjacent to the Dorset 

Heaths which is used by SPA bird species for foraging purposes. However, the 
proposals for habitat management and enhancement measures on the remaining 
land, which must be secured through a condition, should deliver habitat 
improvements to the existing habitats. Since Nightjar are largely active at night, 
light disturbance from the proposed development could adversely affect the 
population of foraging Nightjar. Therefore, a pre commencement condition 
requiring a Lighting Strategy which accords with the Bat Conservation Trust 
Lighting Standards should be required in order to avoid impacts upon foraging 
Nightjar. 

 

15.8.11 Natural England has been consulted on the Appropriate Assessment (AA) and 
has advised they have no objection to the proposed development subject to 
securing mitigation measures as set out in the agreed AA. 

 
 
Ecology on Site 
 

Page 56



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

15.8.12 The previously refused application proposed development of almost all of the 
site, with ecological buffers up to 8m along the north and west boundaries. One 
of the reasons for refusal was the unmitigated impact on on-site ecology.  

  
15.8.13 This application for a care home and church has been amended such that it is 

now proposed to develop the southern half the site, with the habitats in north half 
retained and managed, although still accessible to care home residents via a 
mown path. The application is EIA development and is supported by an 
Environmental Statement (ES). Chapter 8, covers ecology and sets out the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) by Darwin Ecology.  At this point in time 
the applicant’s ecologists assessed much of the site as comprising semi-
improved acid grassland with areas of dense scrub around the boundaries. This 
was inputted into the Biodiversity Metric as four different parcels of 'Other 
lowland acid grassland'. Three being poor condition and one being fairly good 
condition.  

 

15.8.14 In the Natural Environment Team (NET) consultation response on 14th February 
2023, NET questioned the assessment of the grassland being 'Other lowland 
acid grassland' because of inconsistencies in the reporting sometimes referring 
to it as being priority habitat 'Lowland Dry Acid Grassland', and because other 
organisations had, in their consultation responses, also considered it to be 
priority habitat. This includes Ecology Solutions, commissioned by local 
residents, who raised this in their response to the previous application. 

  

15.8.15 Because of this uncertainty the applicant engaged Ilex Ecology to undertake an 
National Vegetation Classification (NVC) survey of the site. Their report is 
appended to the May 2023 EcIA. From the report summary: "The site overall was 
relatively species-poor, but did contain some key acidic indicator species, as well 
as an area of rapidly colonising heathland. As such, the NVC analysis revealed a 
low affinity to any known vegetation types, but did provide several low matches 
to acidic habitats (acid grassland, heathland and scrub) but often at lower levels 
than the match to more mesotrophic semi improved grassland types. Most 
significantly, the grassland which covered the majority of the site and most of the 
southern half, was revealed to not be lowland acid grassland but had a closer 
affinity to the neutral MG5 Cynosurus cristatus-Centaurea nigra grassland 
habitat type". The survey found that there were four main habitat 
areas/communities and that all the habitats on site are very transitional, with 
areas of overlap making it difficult to classify in a particular community. A 
majority of the site is a 30% match to lowland meadow, with several other 
habitats also having a low match. The report also  states that there was not a 
high enough affinity to any grassland to classify as any semi-natural habitat. For 
purposes of the Metric it has been inputted as 'other neutral grassland' which 
covers a majority of the southern part of the site plus the northeast corner. The 
central northern section is described as rapidly developing pioneer heathland. 

  

15.8.16 NET responded to this information in June 2023 stating they had no further 
comment on the habitat assessment because of the survey undertaken by Ilex 
Ecology, recognising the expertise of the specific consultant in this field. 

  

Page 57



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

15.8.17 Ecology Solutions, commissioned by local residents, provided a further response 
in July 2023 with the habitat assessment being one of the concerns raised. The 
concerns were raised partly on the basis that the habitat was previously 
assessed as being acid grassland, and that the Ilex Ecology report referred to 
the fact that “all plant communities on site have some affinity with acid habitats”. 
This response was followed up by the applicant with a Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) Review, dated September 2023, which again focussed on the baseline 
habitat assessment, and which raises these same issues, and also notes: 

 
"In light of the lack of confidence of the NVC results in and of themselves and the 
‘complex and often imprecise’ nature of the relationships between NVC 
communities and UKHab habitat types, Ecology Solutions considered that 
additional evidence and justifications are required to support the selection of 
baseline habitats within the Metric." 
 
They go on to state that the light sandy soils are typical of acid grassland 
habitats, and question the fact that Darwin cite the lack of dominance of acidic 
community indicators as a reason for assigning the grassland as 'other neutral 
grassland’. 

  

15.8.18 The latest document submitted by the applicant is a letter report from Darwin 
Ecology, and includes further consultation with Ilex Ecology, in response to these 
two reviews from Ecology Solutions representing local residents. The key part of 
this, is that, under the current UK Habitats definition, four indicator species are 
required to meet the criteria for g1a lowland dry acid grassland. Darwin state that 
the grassland on site has just one indicator species (Rumex acetosella) and 
therefore does not meet this criteria, and that also the density of the sward is not 
sufficient. 

 
15.8.19 On the basis of sufficient doubt introduced by local residents as to the accuracy 

of the habitat assessment NET sought advice from Dorset Environmental 
Records Centre (DERC), in order to assist in interpreting the NVC survey 
undertaken by Ilex Ecology in April 2023, which is used by Darwin Ecology in 
assessing the baseline habitats present at the site. This advice was sought, in 
part, due to a comment on the application by Ecology Solutions, dated 
September 2023, which introduced doubt around the accuracy of the 
classification of the baseline habitats.  

   
15.8.21 The grassland having not been classified as Priority Habitat was one of the 

concerns raised in a previous NET consultation response, because they are a 
material consideration in planning, and which prompted the NVC survey to be 
undertaken. Despite the difference in interpretation of the NVC data for the 
grassland habitat, it is important to note that neither interpretation of the NVC 
data places the grassland as being a community that translates to a Priority 
Habitat. As such, we are satisfied that the NVC survey, and amended ecology 
documents, address this concern.  

  
15.8.22 In addition, the disparity in interpretation does not materially change the output of 

the Biodiversity Metric. Under the DERC interpretation the grassland as a whole, 
not being Priority Habitat, would be inputted as 'Other lowland acid grassland' 

Page 58



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

which creates a reduction in the total net percentage change in habitat units from 
19.82% to 18.18%. This difference is not, in the view of NET, significant for the 
purposes of decision making, and we advise that the Ecological Impact 
Assessment (EcIA), Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment and Biodiversity 
Metric can be relied upon.  

  
15.8.23     The Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) describes proposals 

to manage the grassland in a way that sees a transition to a mosaic of acid 
grassland and lowland heathland with management actions including removing 
Scot's Pine, restricting Heather coverage, and a cut and collect regime aimed at 
reducing nutrient load. Given the nature of the management actions, and that the 
target habitat in both scenarios would be 'Other lowland acid grassland' in ‘Good’ 
condition, it appears unlikely that the recommendations given in the LEMP would 
differ significantly on the basis of the two different interpretations of the grassland 
habitat present. Given this NET advise that this document can also be relied 
upon for decision making. 

   
15.8.24 NET have advised they recognise the difficulties in classifying transitional 

habitats, such as those present at this site, and in translating NVC communities 
into the UK Habitat Classification (UKHab), for use in the Biodiversity Metric. 
However, consideration of the differing interpretations of the NVC quadrat data 
by two experts in their field demonstrates no material change in the outcomes 
that would otherwise be important to account for when determining the 
application. 

 
15.8.25  Natural England have also been consulted on advice received from DERC and 

advised: 
   

 We note the comments received from DERC regarding the quality of the acid 
grasslands that occur on the site. The evaluation of the available botanical 
assessments concludes that none of the grassland areas conform to lowland 
acid grassland priority habitat , but rather should be classified as the less 
important “Other acid grassland”. The report however notes the potential for 
restoration to priority habitats through appropriate management. The 
development proposals will retain and manage the higher quality grassland 
areas located in the northern half of the site and it is reasonable to conclude that 
if delivered in full the scheme will achieve acid grassland priority habitats within 
the retained areas within a reasonable timeframe. DC NET have commented that 
these botanical assessments do not change the overall outcomes or BNG 
assessment and we would concur with this advice. 

  
The DERC report, however, also highlights the high importance of the site to 
specialist invertebrates, and it is clear from the submitted information that the site 
is of at least county importance for these interests. The applicant’s invertebrate 
ecologist also highlighted the value to invertebrates and identified the retained 
northern areas of the site as important for the heathland invertebrate interests, 
with the developed area providing less important less specialist habitats. This 
finding mirrors the botanical assessment for the site. The areas subject to the 
development will however have value as additional invertebrate nectar and 
pollen sources. It will therefore be important for the landscaping proposals for the 

Page 59



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

scheme to include (and be limited to) a range of heathland and acid grassland 
species and habitats to be agreed with  DC NET designed to maintain the 
availability of pollen and nectar sources. We would therefore recommend that 
any permission secures a condition to agree and maintain a suitable ecological 
management plan for the developed areas as well as a habitat enhancement 
plan for the retained acid grasslands. 

  
Having considered the assessment by DERC Natural England maintains its 
advice as set out in our previous response (email dated 28 June 2023). We 
would however recommend that the scheme is required to include the creation of 
a permanent sandy bank across the northern boundary to help provide further 
opportunities for the host of invertebrates reliant on sandy ground specialists. We 
would also reiterate our advice that any permission should secure the provision 
of appropriate monitoring of site condition and appropriate step in rights with 
funding necessary to ensure the long-term management of the retained acid 
grassland areas and ecological mitigation measures provided within the 
developed area. Further, provided these measures are in place it is reasonable 
to conclude that the scheme will be able to retain its current ecological function in 
relation to the adjacent SAC / SSSI. 

 
15.8.25  Based on the assessment of NET, external consultants and Natural England of 

the various documents submitted (both by the applicant and local residents), the 
proposed is considered acceptable in relation to ecology on site subject to 
securing biodiversity and Heathland mitigation via condition and Section 106 
legal agreement. 

 
  Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

15.8.26 Biodiversity NET Gain (BNG) is a new approach to development that makes sure 
that habitats for wildlife are left in a measurably better state than they were 
before the development. In England, BNG is mandatory under Schedule 7A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of the 
Environment Act 2021). From the 12 February 2024 developers of major 
planning applications must deliver a BNG of at least 10%. This means a 
development will result in more or better quality natural habitat than there was 
before development.  

15.8.27 This application was submitted in 2022 and was not required to meet BNG 
requirements at the time of submission. Regardless of this the latest biodiversity 
metric submitted (June 2023) demonstrates a 19.82% gain in habitat units and a 
37.78% gain in hedgerow units. Despite advice from DERC where it revealed a 
few instances where NET might disagree with what has been inputted into the 
Metric, NET has advised the sum of these differences is not significant enough to 
take any net gain below 10%. Therefore the proposed is considered to meet the 
requirements of BNG. 

 
15.8.28  Whilst BNG is not legally required for the application, it is considered necessary 

to secure a monitoring fee regardless given that the management and monitoring 
are key to accepting the proposed mitigation. It is therefore reasonable to include 

Page 60

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted


Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

a monitoring fee into the section 106 legal obligation, based on BNG monitoring 
requirements.   

   
15.8.29  Based on the mitigation to be provided in relation to Dorset Heathlands, 

biodiversity net gain and management requirements to maintain the site, the 
proposed is considered acceptable subject to the completion of a legal 
agreement and condition in relation to the LEMP. 

  
 
15.9 Other 
 
15.9.1  Concerns have been raised the application site is situated on contaminated land. 

The Council’s contaminated land consultant has been consulted and has raised 
no concerns regarding contaminated land subject to a standard contaminated land 
condition, which is included at the end of this report. 

 
15.9.2  Third party concerns have also been raised that the existing power supply 

structure in Blackfield Lane is in sufficient to supply the demand required for the 
proposed development. Concerns are noted however there is no evidence to 
suggest power supply would be an issue and it is not a material planning 
consideration. 

 
15.9.3 Concerns have been raised the proposed would impact negatively on the adjacent 

Castleman Trail. The Castleman Trail is adjacent to the site but is a sufficient 
distance from built development and the existing vegetation to the southern 
boundary provides ample screening, which is to be retained.  

 
15.10 Summary response to neighbour concerns  
 
15.10.1 The following table provides a summary response to neighbour concerns   raised 

based on the officer assessment above: 
 

 
Proposed Use 
 

• The principle of development is acceptable. 

• The provision of a care home is considered acceptable subject to 

condition and securing heathland mitigation. 

• The provision of church is considered acceptable subject to 

condition. 

• Identified need for care homes across Dorset. 

 

 
Impact on 
character of 
the area 
 

• Only access and scale are under consideration. 

• The proposed will utilise the existing access and will not be 

harmful to the character of the area. 

• The scale of the proposed care home is considered acceptable in 

relation to the character of the area. 

• The scale of the proposed church is considered acceptable in 

relation to the character of the area. 

Page 61



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 

 
Neighbouring 
amenity 
 

• Proposed access and scale is not harmful to neighbouring. 

amenity to an extent that would warrant refusal. 

 

 
Access, Traffic 
and Parking 

• No highways safety concerns for this specific application . 

• Access considered in accordance with Manual for Streets 

requirements. 

• Sufficient parking can be accommodated on site. 

 

Housing Need • The site is within 400m of Dorset Heathland and is not 

acceptable for housing. 

• Identified need for care homes across Dorset. 

• C2 care home acceptable within 400m 

• 60 bed care home will release approx 30 homes adding to the 

housing supply 

 

 
Infrastructure 
 

• No concerns in relation to infrastructure that would warrant 

refusal. 

 

Ecology / 
Environment / 
Flooding 
 

• Proposed care home and church acceptable within 400m of the 

heathland.  

• Biodiversity NET gain achieved on site. 

• Management of biodiversity area will improve biodiversity onsite. 

• Step-in rights can be secured via legal agreement. 

 

Trees 
 

• Proposed access and scale will not impact negatively on trees. 

• Loss of pine trees on site will improve biodiversity. 

 

Construction 
 

• Construction management can be controlled by condition. 

 

Other 
 

• Sufficient information has been submitted to assess and 

conclude recommendation on the application. 

• All required information has been corroborated and triangulated 

with consultee own information. 

• Impact on value of property is not a material consideration. 

• The application needs to be considered on its own merits. 

 

 
15.10.2 The following table provides a summary response to neighbour reports submitted 

based on consultee responses received: 

Page 62



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
 

 Neighbour Report Summary Consultee Response 

Highways Traffic Assessment 

Suitability Report - Sept 

2022 

Response to DC Highways 

‘no objection’ – May 2023 

Transport Technical Note 2 

– July 2023 

 

Previous reasons for refusal have 
been overcome and the proposed 
development has been reduced 
removing the previously refused 
industrial units. There are no highways 
safety concerns for this specific 
application that would warrant refusal. 

Flood Risk Flood Risk Assessment – 

Sept 2022 

FRA and Surface Water 

Management Review – 

March 2023 

 

Subject to securing the off-site 
drainage point and conditions the 
proposed development does not result 
in flood risk concerns. 

Impact on 
Neighbours 

Environmental Impact 

Noise Assessment  - Oct 

2022 

Response to WSP Noise 

Impact Report – 8 October 

2023 

 

Noise from the church and care home 
can generally be managed by 
condition. 
 
External consultants, WSP, have 
advised  notwithstanding the lack of 
detailed analysis, the Applicant NIA 
presents a more accurate and 
reasonable overall assessment 
compared to the Residents NIA.  
 

Ecology Ecological Concerns – 

November 2022 

Ecological Concerns – July 

2023 

BNG Review – September 

2023 

 

 
DC NET, Natural England and 
external consultants have advised 
submitted information is acceptable 
and no objection to the proposed 
subject to securing mitigation, 
management and monitoring 
requirements.  

 
15.11 Previous reasons for refusal 
 
15.11.1  The previously refused application was refused for three reasons and these have 

been overcome as set out in the following table: 
 

Page 63



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 

Reason for refusal (based on NPPF 2019 
at the time of refusal) 
 

Reasoning for overcoming reason for 
refusal 

The increased use of the existing junction 

of The Avenue with Station Road by traffic 

movements associated with the proposed 

development would, by virtue of the limited 

visibility to the north for vehicles using the 

junction, be likely to prejudice the free flow 

of traffic and conditions of general safety 

and is considered to have an unacceptable 

impact on highway safety, when 

consideration is given to paragraph 109 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) 2019. 

 

The proposed development has been 
reduced by removing the previously refused  
industrial units and no longer raises 
highways concerns subject to condition. 

As a result of ecological mitigation 

requirements the site is considered to be 

too constrained to accommodate 

development of the scale proposed. In 

particular the proposed care home which 

fails to provide adequate standards of 

amenity space for future residents and staff 

on account of the requirement for an 

ecological buffer. For these reasons the 

development is considered to be of an 

unacceptable scale and constitute 

overdevelopment of the site contrary to 

Policy HE2 of Christchurch and East Dorset 

Core Strategy and paragraphs 122 (e) and 

127 (f) of the NPPF 2019 that require a 

good standard of amenity for future 

occupants.   

 

Only the southern part of the site is now to 
be developed allowing the northern part to 
be retained and maintained as an ecology 
area. This is subject to condition and 
securing management matters via legal 
agreement. 
 
Sufficient amenity space for the care home 
residents can now be provided on site and 
additional space has been agreed by 
Natural England where residents can use a 
mown path through the ecology area. 

It has been demonstrated that the 

application site is functionally linked to the 

adjoining designated internationally 

protected heath, Holt & West Moors 

Heaths. While mitigation is secured on site, 

based on information provided, it cannot be 

safely concluded that the scheme with the 

proposed mitigation measures secured 

Only the southern part of the site is now to 
be developed allowing the northern part to 
be retained and maintained as an ecology 
area. This is subject to condition and 
securing management matters via legal 
agreement. 
 

Page 64



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

would avoid an adverse effect on the 

designated features of the adjoining 

internationally designated sites. Without the 

required information the Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) is unable to conclude in 

favour of the application and the 

precautionary principle must apply. On the 

information supplied the proposal fails to 

secure the necessary avoidance measures 

to mitigate the impact of the development, 

on the integrity of the designated site and 

there are no imperative reasons of 

overriding public interest in support of the 

proposal. The development is therefore 

contrary to policies ME1 of the Christchurch 

and East Dorset Local Plan, Part 1 - Core 

Strategy, the provisions of the National 

Planning Policy Framework, particularly 

paragraphs 175-177 and the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 

 
 
15.12 Conditions and Section 106 Obligations 
 
15.12.1  A number of conditions are required as follows and set out at the end of this 

report to ensure the proposed development can be deemed acceptable. 
Conditions are required in respect of the following material planning 
considerations: 

  
 

Condition trigger  Condition 

n/a - Approved plans 
 

Within 3 years of outline 
approval 
 

- Reserved matters submission 
 

Reserved matters design - Foul drainage details 
- Sandy bank landscaping details 

 

Pre-commencement  - Construction management plan 
- Surface drainage details 
- Tree protection details  
- Parking for cars 
- Lighting 

 

Page 65



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

Completion of construction - Contaminated Land 
 

Pre damp proof course - Renewable energy 
- Water efficiency 

Pre-occupation - Relocation of electricity pole 
- Access construction 
- Parking for bicycles 
- Floor levels 
- Biodiversity Mitigation Enhancement Plan 
- Plant details and noise 

 

Perpetuity - Landscape ecological management plan 
- Church noise mitigation  
- Number of bedrooms limited to 60 
- PD rights removed to ensure the church is 

used for F1 (f) use only 
 

 
15.12.2  A Section 106 legal agreement is also required, as set out in the officer 

recommendation, to secure the following: 
 

- Secure Biodiversity requirements including management plan, monitoring fee 
and step-in rights. 

- Secure Dorset Heathland restrictions required by Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA). 

- Secure surface water drainage connection outside of the site boundary (or 
provide proof of ownership, where surface water drainage obligations would 
no longer be required). 

 
 
15.13 Conclusion 
 
15.13.1  It is considered this Outline application suitably accords with relevant Local Plan 

Policies and National Planning Guidance as set out in this report and is 
considered acceptable in respect of access and scale as set out in this report. 

 
15.13.2  The proposal would not give rise to significant amenity impacts on existing local 

residents or future site occupiers. 
 
15.13.3  Therefore, subject to suitable conditions, the proposal accords with Local Plan 

Core Strategy policies HE2, HE3, KS1, KS11, KS12, HE1, ME1 and ME6 East 
Dorset Local Plan (2002) policies DES6 and DES11 and so with the Local Plan 
as a whole. 

 
15.13.4  This assessment exercise has involved considering the acceptability of the 

proposal in relation to the Development Plan, taken as a whole, and all other 
materials considerations. All of the foregoing factors have also been considered 
in relation to the social, economic, and environmental benefits to be provided by 
the proposal. It is considered the proposed is acceptable in relation to material 
planning considerations.  

Page 66



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
15.13.5  The proposal is therefore considered to be sustainable development for the 

purposes of NPPF paragraph 11. The recommendation is for approval of the 
application with conditions. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Delegate authority to the Head of Planning and the Service Manager for Development 
Management and Enforcement to:  
 

A) Grant permission subject to the following conditions and completion of a legal 
agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) in a form to be agreed by the legal services manager to amend planning 
obligations as follows: 

  
- Secure Biodiversity requirements including management plan and step-in 
rights. 
 
- Secure Dorset Heathland restrictions required by HRA. 
 
- Secure surface water drainage connection outside of the site boundary (or 
provide proof of ownership, where surface water drainage obligations would no 
longer be required). 

  
 And subject to the following conditions. 
 

OR 
 

B) Refuse permission if the legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed by (6 months from the date 
of committee) or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning. 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS for recommendation A 
 
(pre-commencement conditions have been agreed by email on 20.02.2024) 
 
 
1.  (a) Before any development is commenced details of all 'Reserved Matters', that is the 

following matters in respect of which details have not been given in the application and 
which relate to the layout, appearance and landscaping shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(b) An application for approval of any 'Reserved Matters' must be made not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 
(c) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of the Reserved Matters or, in the case 

Page 67



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be 
approved. 

 
Reason:  (a) This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Article 5(1) 
of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 
2015: (1) of the (b) and (c) These conditions are required to be imposed by Section 92 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans:  
 

21-T5483/008 Location Plan 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
3.  Prior to the determination of any reserved matters application, a scheme to dispose of 

foul drainage, which will include a connection point to the existing public foul sewer 
network, will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not pose an unacceptable risk to the 
water environment. 

 
4.  Prior to the determination of any reserved matters application, a landscaping scheme, 

which will include details of a sandy bank across the northern boundary of the site, will 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented as approved. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development provides a suitable environment for 
specialists invertebrates on site.  

 
5.  Before the development hereby approved commences a Construction Method 

Statement (CMS) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The CMS must include: 

 
o the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
o loading and unloading of plant and materials 
o storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
o delivery, demolition and construction working hours 

 
The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development. 

 
Reason: to minimise the likely impact of construction traffic on the surrounding 
highway network. 

 
6.  No development shall take place until a detailed surface water management scheme 

for the site, based upon the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 
development, and including clarification of how surface water is to be managed during 
construction, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning 

Page 68



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

authority. The surface water scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 
submitted details before the development is completed. 
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water 
quality, and to improve habitat and amenity. 

 
7. No development shall take place until details of maintenance & management of both 

the surface water sustainable drainage scheme and any receiving system have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. These should include a plan for the lifetime of the development, the 
arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 
 
Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system, and to 
prevent the 
increased risk of flooding. 

 

8.  Details of any access facilitation pruning works and a plan showing the location of 
barriers in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and 
construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site for 
the purposes of the development. The barriers shall be erected and maintained until 
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition 
and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation 
be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:  To ensure that trees and their rooting environments are afforded adequate 
physical protection during construction. 

 
9.  Plans and particulars showing a scheme of foul sewers, surface water drains, land 

drains and the position of soakaways shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority, and development shall not be commenced before 
these details have been approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing.  Such works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details concurrently with the rest 
of the development and in any event shall be finished before the building is occupied.  

 
Reason:  This information is required prior to commencement of development in the 
interests of tree protection and to accord with Policies HE2 and HE3 of the Core 
Strategy. 

 
10. Before the development commences a scheme for the manoeuvring, parking, loading 

and unloading of vehicles must be submitted to the Planning Authority. Any such 
scheme requires approval to be obtained in writing from the Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme must be constructed before any part of the development hereby 
permitted is occupied or utilised. Thereafter, these areas must be maintained, kept 
free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified. 
 

Page 69



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site and to ensure 
that highway safety is not adversely impacted upon. 

 
11.  Before the development commences a written scheme should be submitted to and 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority that specifies the provisions to be 
made for the level of illumination of the site and to control light pollution. This should 
include a light spill assessment to demonstrate that any artificial lighting will not have 
an adverse effect on nearby residents. The scheme shall be implemented and 
maintained for the lifetime of the approved development and shall not be altered 
without the prior written approval of the local planning authority. 

 
 Reason: To protect on site ecology and neighbouring amenity. 
 
 
12.  In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority and an investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance 
with requirements of BS10175 (as amended). Should any contamination be found 
requiring remediation, a remediation scheme, including a time scale, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. On completion of 
the approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be prepared and 
submitted within two weeks of completion and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure risks from contamination are minimised. 
 

13. Before the development hereby approved is occupied or utilised the following works 
must have been constructed to the specification of the Planning Authority: 

 The re-siting of the existing utility pole located on the northern side of the junction of 
Station Road with The Avenue to a location to be first agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
 Reason: These specified works are seen as a pre-requisite for allowing the 

development to proceed, providing the necessary highway infrastructure 
improvements to mitigate the likely impact of the proposal. 

 
 
14.  Before the development is occupied or utilised the first 15.00 metres of the vehicle 

access, measured from the rear edge of the highway (excluding the vehicle crossing - 
see the Informative Note below), must be laid out and constructed to a specification 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a suitably surfaced and constructed access to the site is 
provided that prevents loose material being dragged and/or deposited onto the 
adjacent carriageway causing a safety hazard. 

 
15.  The development hereby permitted must not be occupied or utilised until a scheme 

showing precise details of the proposed cycle parking facilities is submitted to the 
Planning Authority. Any such scheme requires approval to be obtained in writing from 
the Planning Authority. The approved scheme must be constructed before the 

Page 70



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

development is commenced and, thereafter, must be maintained, kept free from 
obstruction and available for the purpose specified. 
 
Reason: To ensure the proper construction of the parking facilities and to encourage 
the use of sustainable transport modes. 

 
 
16.  Prior to the commencement of development the Landscape Ecological Management 

Plan (LEMP) dated November 2023 shall be amended to include additional 
information in relation to Dorset Heathland fires including prevention of fires on site 
and shall have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 The approved LEMP must be strictly adhered to during the carrying out of the 
development. 
 
The development hereby approved must not be first brought into use unless and until: 
i) the mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures detailed in the 
approved biodiversity plan or LEMP have been completed in full, unless any 
modifications to the approved LEMP as a result of the requirements of a European 
Protected Species Licence have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, and  
ii) evidence of compliance in accordance with the approved LEMP has been supplied 
to the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Thereafter the approved mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain 
measures must be permanently maintained and retained in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on 
biodiversity. 

 
17.  No development above damp proof course (DPC) shall take place until a scheme for 

water efficiency has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate a standard of a maximum of 110 litres per 
person per day is applied for all residential development. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the agreed details.  
 
Reason: This condition contributes to sustainable development and meeting the 
demands of climate change. Increased water efficiency for all new developments also 
enables more growth with the same water resources. 

 
18. No development above damp proof course (DPC) shall take place until details have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that cover 
the following matters: 
- how the development shall achieve at least 10% of the total regulated energy (used 
for space heating, hot water provision, fixed lighting and ventilation) used in the 
dwellings in each phase from renewable sources, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority; 
- that options for district heating, and/or power facilities to serve the development have 
been investigated; 

Page 71



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

- where it is possible to do so the development should be connected to a district 
heating and/or power facility in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details. 
 
 Reason: To help meet the UK's carbon emissions targets and comply with Policy ME4 
of the Christchurch and East Dorset Core Strategy. 

 
 
19.  The detailed Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) dated May 2022 

must be strictly adhered to during the carrying out of the development. 
 

Reason: To mitigate for impacts on biodiversity. 
 

 
20.  Finished floor levels to be constructed to a minimum of 300mm above ground level. 

 
Reason: To provide resilience against residual surface/fluvial water flood risk. 

 
21. Prior to the installation of externally mounted plant, details of any externally mounted 

plant (electrical substation and commercial kitchen extraction system) shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) along with a noise assessment such 
as that conducted in accordance with BS4142:2014 (Methods for rating and assessing 
industrial and commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments. The 
assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The agreed 
scheme (together with any required measures) shall be installed to the agreed 
specification prior to the first use, and maintained and operated in that condition 
thereafter unless agreed in writing by the LPA. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy DES2 of the East 

Dorset Local Plan. 
 
 
22.  Prior to the installation of the commercial kitchen extraction system, a scheme 

containing full details of the arrangements for internal air extraction, odour control, and 
discharge to atmosphere from cooking operations, including any external ducting and 
flues, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) along with an appropriate odour assessment. The works detailed in the 
approved scheme shall be installed in their entirety before the use hereby permitted is 
commenced. The equipment shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s instructions and operated at all times when cooking is being carried 
out unless agreed in writing by the LPA. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy DES2 of the East 

Dorset Local Plan. 
 
 
23.  The proposed church hereby approved shall be designed and constructed in 

accordance with the requirements of the approved noise impact assessment ‘Land off 
Blackfield Lane, Noise Impact Assessment, J0431_R03, dated 22nd March 2022 by 

Page 72



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

ALN Acoustic Design Ltd’, which will include a building envelope specified to provide 
an enhanced composite sound insulation performance of at least 44dB R’w and 
double glazed windows and doors.  

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy DES2 of the East 

Dorset Local Plan. 
 

24.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended, and the Town & Country Planning 
Use Classes Order 1987 as amended (or any order revoking and re-enacting those 
Orders with or without modification) the church hall part of this permission shall not be 
used other than Use Class F1 (f) - For, or in connection with, public worship or 
religious instruction.  

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure that the use remains compatible 
with surrounding land uses in the area. 

 
25.  The care home hereby approved shall accommodate no more than sixty bedrooms. 
 

Reason: The protect the character of the area and prevent over development of the 
site. 

 
 
Informatives:  
 
 
1. The applicant needs to be aware that the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be 

applied to development on this site. The amount of levy due will be calculated at the 
time the reserved matters application is submitted. 

 
2. This grant of permission is to be read in conjunction with the Legal Agreement dated 

TBC entered into between Dorset Council and TBC. 
 

3. The applicant is advised the indicative layout submitted is not considered acceptable 
and this approval is for scale and access only. A reserved matters application will 
need to consider landscape officer concerns raised in relation to layout and design 
detail raised in response to the submitted indicative design. 

 
4. The vehicle crossing serving this proposal (that is, the area of highway land between 

the nearside carriageway edge and the site’s road boundary) must be constructed to 
the specification of the Highway Authority in order to comply with Section 184 of the 
Highways Act 1980. The applicant should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at 
01305 221020, by email at dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at 
Dorset Highways, Dorset Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the 
commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway. 

 
5. If the applicant wishes to offer for adoption any highways drainage to DC, they should 

contact DC Highway’s Development team at DLI@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk as soon as 
possible to ensure that any highways drainage proposals meet DCC’s design 
requirements. 

Page 73



Eastern Planning Committee 24 April 2024 (deferred 13 March 2024) 

 
 

 
6. Prior Land Drainage Consent (LDC) may be required from DC’s FRM team, as 

relevant LLFA, for all works that offer an obstruction to flow to a channel or stream 
with the status of Ordinary Watercourse (OWC) – in accordance with s23 of the Land 
Drainage Act 1991. The modification, amendment or realignment of any OWC 
associated with the proposal under consideration, is likely to require such permission. 
We would encourage the applicant to submit, at an early stage, preliminary details 
concerning in channel works to the FRM team. LDC enquires can be sent to 
floodriskmanagement@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 
 
 
REASONS for recommendation B 
 
 
1 -  Dorset Heathlands 
 
It has been demonstrated that the application site is functionally linked to the adjoining 

designated internationally protected heath, Holt & West Moors Heaths. While mitigation is 

proposed on site, it has not been secured by legal agreement as required. Without the 

required mitigation secured by legal agreement the Local Planning Authority (LPA) is 

unable to conclude in favour of the application and the precautionary principle must apply. 

Therefore the proposal fails to secure the necessary avoidance measures to mitigate the 

impact of the development, on the integrity of the designated site and there are no 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest in support of the proposal. The development 

is therefore contrary to policies ME1 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan, Part 1 

- Core Strategy, the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, particularly 

section 15 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
2 - Drainage 
 
Proposed drainage connections are required off site. Off site connections are required to be 

secured by legal agreement. The proposed drainage off site drainage connection has not 

been secured by legal agreement as required nor has proof of ownership of the land been 

provided. Without the required connection secured by legal agreement or roof of ownership 

the Local Planning Authority (LPA) is unable to conclude in favour of the application and the 

precautionary principle must apply. Therefore the proposal fails to secure the necessary 

drainage requirements to implement the proposed drainage scheme. The development is 

therefore contrary to policies ME6 of the Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan, Part 1 - 

Core Strategy. 

Page 74



 

 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastern Area Planning Committee     
24 April 2024  
 

   Approximate Site Location   
Application reference: P/OUT/2022/04113  
Description of development: Outline application for erection of a church / community 
hall & care home with associated parking & an area for biodiversity enhancement (all 
matters reserved except access and scale)  
 

  
  
  
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

Application 
Number: 

P/FUL/2023/06130      

Webpage: https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=400771  

Site address: 1 Christchurch Road Longham Ferndown BH22 8TD 

Proposal:  Change of use and conversion of outbuilding to form new dwelling 

Applicant 
name: 

Mr C Hoyland 

Case Officer: Ellie Lee 

Ward 
Member(s): 

Cllr Adkins and Cllr Robinson  

Publicity 
expiry date: 

6 February 
2024 

Officer site visit 
date: 

5 December 2023 

Decision due 
date: 

26 April 2024 Ext(s) of time: Yes – 26 April 2024 

No of Site 
Notices: 

2 Site Notices 

SN displayed 
reasoning: 

To ensure that third parties are notified of the application. 

 
 

1.0 The application has been referred to committee by the nominated officer in 

accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation Process. 

 

2.0 Summary of recommendation: 

GRANT subject to conditions. 

 

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:  

3.1 The proposed scheme would make a modest positive contribution to the Dorset 
Council 5-year housing land supply, which is currently less than 4 years for the 
Eastern Area, as required by the NPPF. Therefore, there is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF.  

3.2 Although outside any settlement, the location is generally sustainable, and the 
proposal is acceptable in its design, general visual impact and impact on 
neighbouring residential amenity. 

3.3  The proposed development lies within the Green Belt but benefits from NPPF 
exception 155 d); as the proposal re-uses an existing building which is of permanent 
and substantial construction it is not inappropriate.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 7

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=400771


Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

3.4 There will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated sites (identified 
within the Appropriate Assessment). 

3.5 There will be no harm to Belle Vue Barrow and the bowl barrow 250m north east of 
Hillamsland) scheduled ancient monuments. 

3.6 There are no material considerations which would warrant refusal of this application. 

 

4.0 Key planning issues  

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development and 
Impact upon Green Belt 

Outside of any settlement but the conversion of 
the existing building benefits from the exception 
at paragraph 155d) of the NPPF; the reuse of an 
existing building which does not result in harm to 
openness or the purposes of the Green Belt is 
not inappropriate development.  

Design, Character and 
Neighbouring Amenity 

Acceptable in terms of local policy HE2 and 
policies within NPPF section 12, for the reasons 
set out below. 

Flooding Risk Acceptable in terms of local policy ME6 and 
NPPF section 14, for the reasons set out below. 

Impact upon Biodiversity and 
Impact upon the Dorset 
Heathlands 

Accords with the Dorset Biodiversity Appraisal 
Protocol and local policy ME1, subject to a 
biodiversity enhancement condition. 

A Habitats Regulations appropriate assessment 
has concluded that there will any adverse effect 
on the integrity of designated sites can be 
effectively mitigated. 

Scheduled Monuments Accords with local policy HE1, as the site is 
sufficiently distant from the Scheduled 
Monument, so would not result in harm. 

 

5.0 Description of Site 

5.1 The application site lies within the Green Belt to the north of Christchurch Road, 
outside the village infilling area of Longham. To the east is Ringwood Road leading 
to Ferndown. 

5.2 There is an existing detached outbuilding on the site that is ancillary to the main 
residential dwelling at 1 Christchurch Road to the south-west of the red line site 
boundary. 

5.3 To the north-west of the red line site boundary is a building that benefits from 
planning permissions for conversion to a dwelling. 

5.4 The site comprises of a long plot which has a site area of approximately 0.1254 
hectares (1254m2) with vehicular access from Christchurch Road located to the 
south-east of the application building. 

Page 80



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

5.5 As noted above, the site is adjacent to residential properties, to its south-west, north-
west, and there are some residential properties on the opposite side of Christchurch 
Road (to the south-east of the application building) within the village infill area. 

 

6.0 Description of Development 

6.1 The proposal seeks to convert an existing ancillary outbuilding associated with the 
main residential dwelling at 1 Christchurch Road to a separate residential 
dwellinghouse, creating a new planning unit. 

6.2 No changes are proposed to the volume of the existing single storey building, but 
changes are proposed to the window and door openings to facilitate the proposed 
use.  

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History   

Application No. Description Decision Date 

P/CLE/2023/04116 Construction of a single 
storey, pitched roof 
outbuilding to 
accommodate a personal 
gym, garden store, 
playroom, and a workshop 
- all incidental uses to the 
enjoyment of the dwelling 
house by its occupiers 

Granted 05/10/2023 

P/FUL/2022/05596 
Overlaps N & NW part 
of red line boundary  

Raise and extend roof of 
existing garage and convert 
it to form a 5 bedroom 
detached dwelling with on-
site car parking and turning 
areas (revised design to that 
approved under planning 
permission 20/0860/FUL), 
and the formation of new 
vehicular access off 
Ringwood Road.  As 
amended by plans rec'd 
17/1/23 to make minor 
alterations to windows and 
appearance and 23/3/23 & 
27.4.23 to reduce footprint 
and massing of extensions. 

Granted & under 
construction 

07/06/2023 

P/FUL/2022/03550 
Overlaps N & NW part 
of red line boundary 

Raise and extend roof of 
existing garage and convert 
to form a 3 bedroom self-
contained dwelling. Form 

Granted- 
superseded by 
P/FUL/2022/05596 

19/12/2022 

Page 81



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

new vehicular access off 
Ringwood Road with on-site 
car parking and turning 
area. Revised scheme to 
that approved under 
application 3/20/0860/FUL 
to amend the access 
provision only (scale and 
design of extensions remain 
as previously approved). 

3/21/1605/CLP Certificate of Lawful Use 
(proposed) to erect a 
detached single storey flat 
roof building to be used 
as a garage, storage, 
playroom and a personal 
gym - all incidental uses 
to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house by its 
occupiers 

Granted 16/11/2021 

3/21/1604/CLP Erect a single storey side 
extension to the existing 
garage  

Granted 31/12/2021 

3/20/1711/FUL Erect a detached bungalow 
with associated access and 
car parking 

Refused 23/06/2021 

3/20/0860/FUL Raise and extend roof of 
existing garage and convert 
it to form a 3 bedroom self 
contained dwelling. 

Granted 13/11/2020 

3/20/0686/CLP Erection of a detached 
single storey flat roof 
building to be used as a 
triple garage, storage, 
playroom and a personal 
gym - all incidental uses 
to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house by its 
occupiers. 

Granted 16/09/2020 

3/19/1177/FUL Convert existing garage into 
a 2no bed self contained 
dwelling.  As amended by 
plans received 20/8/19 to 
amend internal layout and 
external openings. 

Granted- 
superseded by 
P/FUL/2022/05596 

27/09/2019 

Page 82



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

03/99/0498/FUL 

Includes land within 
and outside the 
application site 

Close off existing access & 
form new access to both 
properties 

Granted 

Condition 6 
required old 
access serving no. 
1 Christchurch Rd 
to be permanently 
closed. 

29/10/1999 

03/98/0877/FUL 
Overlaps NE of 
application site and 
access 

Part demolition of existing 
greenhouses and erect new 
stables and use store 
buildings for stables 

Granted 11/05/1999 

03/97/0965/FUL 
Overlaps NE of 
application site and 
access 

Laying of foul sewer, 
amended to include long 
section, location of drainage 
spurs and working space 
corridors, As amended 
31.10.95, 09.02.96, 
20.05.96 & 24.05.96, 

Granted 13/09/1996 

03/87/0594/FUL Change of use from lounge 
to tea room 

Refused 23/06/1987 

03/80/0875/HST Erect greenhouse Granted 30/05/1980 

03/78/1987/HST Erect extension to side of 
dwelling 

Granted 17/11/1978 

 

8.0 List of Constraints 

• Green Belt (GB) 

• Within 5km of Dorset Heathlands 

• Tree Preservation Order (TPO) ref: EDDC/HA/14 

• SGN - Medium pressure gas pipeline 25m or less from Medium Pressure Pipelines 

(75mbar - 2 bar); - Distance: 20.25 

• Bournemouth Water Consultation Area 

• EA – Risk of Surface Water Flooding Extent 1 in 100- central part of access & 

southern part of the site 

• EA - Risk of Surface Water Flooding Extent 1 in 1000  

• EA - Groundwater – Susceptibility to flooding 

• Scheduled Monument: Bell barrow known as Belle Vue Barrow, and a bowl barrow 

250m north east of Hillamsland (List Entry: 1015994): 373.31m from site 

Page 83



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

• Approved Dorset suitable alternative natural greenspace - SANG (Record ID 

67.0): Adjacent to application site 

• RAD - Radon: Class: Class 1: Less than 1%  

 

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 

 

Consultees 

1. Natural England  

No objection, subject to mitigation 

Natural England concur with the view of the Council that the proposed 

mitigation is sufficient to allow a conclusion of no adverse effect on the 

integrity of the habitats and Ramsar sites detailed the Appropriate 

Assessment. 

In respect of this matter Natural England have no objection to the Council 

approving the application. 

3. Southern Gas Networks  

 Comments 

Letter accompanied by SGN Assets map received including the following 

comments: 

‘On the mains record you may see the low/medium/intermediate pressure gas 

main near your site. There should be no mechanical excavations taking place 

above or within 0.5m of a low/medium pressure system or above or within 

3.0m of an intermediate pressure system. You should, where required confirm 

the position using hand dug trial holes.’ 

4. Dorset Wildlife Trust 

 No comments received 

5. DC Highways Officer 

 No objection, subject to condition 

The Highway Authority considers that the proposal does not present a 

material harm to the transport network or to highway safety and consequently 

has no objection, subject to a condition to secure the turning/manoeuvring 

and parking construction. 

6. DC Natural Environment Team  

Page 84



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

Comments 

 A Preliminary Roost Appraisal (PRA) is not necessary in this instance. 

Recommend that a biodiversity enhancement condition is added, for a bat box 

to be installed, any new fencing to include 15cm hedgehog gaps. 

It is also advised that the impact of any new lighting on bats foraging at 

nearby suitable habitats are considered. 

7. Ferndown Town Council  

 Objection  

These are the comments that the Town Council would like to be recorded 

please in respect of P/FUL.2023/06130: 

•Ref: Previous app. 3/21/1605/CLP & 2023/04116 Permission was granted for 

the proposal to be used solely for the benefit of the existing dwelling house 

and its occupiers. FTC and District Cllrs were against any proposal to convert 

to a residential dwelling. 

•The proposal is adversely impacted by the height, bulk and mass of the 5-

bed house's close proximity, it will also result in a loss of light and/or 

overshadowing. 

•The combined design of the 2 sites layout (2022/05596) and this proposal 

result in a cramped and piecemeal development causing a considerable loss 

of enjoyment to the occupiers’ amenities and privacy 

•The proposal represents a total loss of the amenities previously approved to 

the main house by this proposal. 

•The turning area for the 5-bed house is directly adjacent to the garden of the 

proposal, adversely causing nuisance and noise to the owners of the 

proposal. 

•Overlooking and loss of privacy from the 1st floor of the 5-bedroom house 

directly next-door, including loss of light and/or overshadowing. 

8. Ward Members 

 No comments received 

Representations received  

Site Notices were displayed in two locations as close to the site as possible, and no 
third-party representations were received. 

 

  

Page 85



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

10.0 Duties 

s38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 

determination of planning applications must be in accordance with the development 

plan unless material circumstances indicate otherwise. 

 

11.0 Relevant Policies 

Development Plan 

Adopted Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan (2014): 

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this proposal:   

KS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

KS2 - Settlement hierarchy 

KS3 - Green Belt 

KS11 - Transport and Development 

KS12 - Parking Provision 

HE1 - Valuing and Conserving our Historic Environment 

HE2 - Design of new development 

HE3 - Landscape Quality 

LN1 – The Size and Type of New Dwellings 

LN2 – Design, Layout and Density of New Housing Development  

ME1 - Safeguarding biodiversity and geodiversity 

ME2 - Dorset Heathlands 

ME6 - Flood Management, Mitigation and Defence 

 

Material Considerations  

Emerging Local Plans: 

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that local planning authorities may give weight 
to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 

• the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

• the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant plan policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may 
be given); and 

• the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan are to the policies of the 
NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).  

Page 86



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

The Dorset Council Local Plan Options Consultation took place between January 
and March 2021. Being at a very early stage of preparation, the relevant policies in 
the Draft Dorset Council Local Plan should be accorded very limited weight in 
decision making. However, the production of the Draft Local Plan has significant 
implications for the assessment of housing land supply. 

The emerging Local Plan has reached Regulation 18 of the (Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 stage and includes a policies 
map and proposed allocations towards meeting housing need. Therefore, as detailed 
under Paragraph 226 of the NPPF (December 2023), for decision-making purposes 
only, the Council is only required to identify a minimum of 4 years’ worth of 
deliverable housing sites. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Paragraph 11: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

Paragraph 47: Determining applications in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Paragraphs 82-83: Section 5 ‘Delivering a sufficient supply of homes’ outlines the 
government’s objective in respect of land supply with subsection ‘Rural housing’ 
reflecting the requirement for development in rural areas. 

Paragraphs 88-89: ‘Supporting a prosperous rural economy' promotes the 
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in rural 
areas, through conversion of existing buildings, the erection of well-designed new 
buildings, and supports sustainable tourism and leisure developments where 
identified needs are not met by existing rural service centres. (Section 6 of NPPF). 

Paragraph 135: Planning decisions should ensure developments are visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting; create places that are safe, 
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

Paragraph 165: Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be 
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing 
or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should 
be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 

Footnote 60 within section 14 of the NPPF confirms that the sequential test does not 
need to applied to applications where the planning application is for proposed a 
change of use. 

Paragraphs 165 – 173: Section 14 ‘Meeting the challenges of climate change, 
flooding and coastal change.’ 

Paragraphs 185 – 188 – Section 15 of the NPPF (Conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment). 

 

Other material considerations 

Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2020-2025 SPD 

Page 87



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

Dorset Council Interim Guidance and Position Statement Appendix B: Adopted Local 
Plan policies and objectives relating to climate change, renewable energy, and 
sustainable design and construction. December 2023. 

Countryside Design Summary SPG 

 

12.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 

 

13.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics. 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people. 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty. 

The proposal would result in a net of 1 dwelling being provided, which will be 
required to meet building regulations. There may be some limited impact on persons 
with protected characteristics living in the locality during the construction period. 

 

14.0 Environmental Implications 

The proposal will reuse an existing building; no significant environmental implications 
have been identified. 

 

15.0 Planning Assessment 

Principle of Development and Impact upon Green Belt 

15.1 The application site lies within the Green Belt, where inappropriate development is, 
by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 

Page 88



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

special circumstances. The relevant exception to the inappropriate development 
within the NPPF is below:  

155. Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the 
Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with 
the purposes of including land within it. These are: … 

 …d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent 
and substantial construction; … 

15.2 The building under consideration was recently constructed as an outbuilding 
incidental to the enjoyment of the parent property at 1 Christchurch Road. It is 
permanent and of substantial construction.  

15.3 It is acknowledged that the proposed use of the building as an additional 
dwellinghouse will result in intensification of the residential use of the Green Belt 
land, however the application building is large enough to accommodate the 
proposed use without extensions; it has a gross internal floor area of 94sqm so 
accords with policy LN1, it already lies in a residential setting, screened from the 
SANG beyond by boundary treatment, and future occupiers will use an existing 
vehicular access and existing garden land that has previously been used for parking 
vehicles. Conditions (nos. 10 and 11) removing permitted development rights for 
extensions and outbuildings are judged appropriate and necessary to limit the 
potential for further building operations. With these in place the development is 
judged to preserve the openness of Green Belt in this location. 

15.14 Since the proposal will reuse an existing building on land with ancillary residential 
use, it is not judged to result in any additional encroachment into the countryside 
nor will it result in further coalescing of the built-up area, so the proposal does not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. Officers consider 
that the proposed development benefits from NPPF exception 155 d) so it is not 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

15.5 The proposal will create a new dwelling in countryside beyond any settlement 
identified by policy KS2 so is contrary to this policy. Further consideration is given to 
this matter in the balancing assessment at para 15.25. 

 

Design, Character and Neighbouring Amenity 

15.6 The proposed works are to change the use of an existing single storey outbuilding to 
form a new separate dwellinghouse. 

15.7 Ferndown Town Council originally raised concerns about the amenity that would be 
offered for future residents due to the proximity to the larger two storey dwelling 
(Meadow View) to the north west resulting in overshadowing, overlooking and 
vehicle movements result in disturbance. Officers judge that the proposed 
dwellinghouse is sufficiently distant from neighbouring properties (approx. 9.5m 
southeast of Meadow View and 13m north east of no. 1 Christchurch Road), as to 
avoid harmful impacts upon the occupants of neighbouring residential properties and 
future occupants.  

15.8 It is noted that the Town Council considers the site in combination with previous 
permissions to be cramped, however, the scheme results in a density of 15dph 
which will avoid harm to the character of the area in accordance with policy LN2. The 

Page 89



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

proposed scheme’s resultant intensification within the area, would be limited, given 
that the size of the single storey building is not proposed to be increased, and as the 
application site building is of an acceptable minimum distance from other buildings.  

15.9 The Proposed Site Plan sets out the layout of the site, including access and parking 
provision in relation to the dwelling and its associated garden land. The same 
drawing indicates opportunities for soft landscaping. To ensure that any harm to 
neighbouring amenity is limited, further detail would be required to secure 
appropriate landscaping on the site, so it is judged necessary to impose conditions 
(no. 4 and 5) requiring the submission of soft and hard landscaping details, prior to 
first occupation or use of the development. 

15.10 Therefore, subject to conditions, the proposed development accords with local policy 
HE2 in terms of design, character and neighbouring amenity and policies within 
section 12 of the NPPF. 

 

Flooding Risk 

15.11 The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment identifies that the application site is 
at risk from surface water flooding in both a 1 in 100 (medium risk) and 1 in 1000 
(low risk) return period. The proposed house lies within the 1 in 1000 year surface 
water flood risk area, which is a low risk, while the proposed parking area south of 
the property and part of the garden and access fall within an area identified as being 
at high risk from surface water. Additionally the whole of the application site (except 
the access closest to Christchurch Road) lies within an area identified as being 
susceptible to high groundwater levels so could be at risk from groundwater 
emergence flooding.  

15.12 Since the proposal is for a change of use there is no policy requirement to undertake 
a sequential test (footnote 60 of the NPPF confirms that the sequential test does not 
need to applied to applications where the proposal is for a change of use), but it is 
still necessary to be satisfied that future occupiers will not be put at risk and that the 
development will not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere to accord with policy 
ME6.  

 

15.13 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted to support the application, 
along with the following, some of which have been revised during the application: 

• Drainage Report 

• Surface Water Drainage Layout 

• Impermeable Area & Overland Flow Route drawing 

• Construction Details 

• Maintenance Schedule for drainage and Sustainable Drainage Systems 

• Evidence that Wessex Water (WW) has agreed to the proposed discharge 
rate of 1l/s from the proposed Sustainable urban Drainage System (SuDS), 

Page 90



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

15.14 The FRA identifies that surface water flooding would be likely to be a maximum of 
0.3m in an extreme event but when considering ‘flood hazard’ which takes account of 
flood depths, velocities and debris, the existing vehicular access route on which the 
new dwelling would rely is identified as ‘very low hazard’. Caution should still be 
taken and therefore it would be advisable for occupants to sign up to receive flood 
alerts (an informative note is added).  

 15.15 Taking account of climate change, the area affected by surface water flooding could 
extend to the dwelling in the future; the fitting of non-return valves to all drain and 
sewer outlets is proposed to protect future occupants. Ground water flooding has 
been identified as unlikely, in part due to topography; surface flows would be directed 
to the low lying areas to the south and east so the overall risk is judged to be low.  

15.16 Following the submission of amended drainage information, the surface water 
drainage scheme is now considered to be acceptable, and is judged to be viable and 
deliverable for the lifetime of the development, subject to condition (no. 7) to secure 
the measures and the maintenance. 

15.17 Subject to conditions to secure the proposed surface water management (no. 7), 
flood mitigation measures (no. 9) and remove permitted development rights for 
additional impermeable hardstanding (no. 11) the proposals are judged to be in 
accordance with local policy ME6 & policies within NPPF section 14. 

 

Impact upon Biodiversity and Impact upon the Dorset Heathlands 

15.18 The planning application under consideration follows a previous Certificate of 
Lawfulness ref: P/CLE/2023/04116 which confirmed that the outbuilding was lawful.  

15.19 Due to the recent construction of the building, no ecological surveys are required; the 
Council’s Natural Environment Team (NET) confirmed that a Preliminary Roost 
Assessment (PRA) Report is not necessary to accompany this application. NET have 
recommended that in line with policy ME1 a biodiversity enhancement condition is 
imposed to include a bat box (to a suitable tree) and to ensure that new fencing 
includes 15cm hedgehog gaps. NET also advised that any new lighting should 
consider bats foraging on nearby suitable habitats. 

15.20 Subject to the imposition of a biodiversity enhancement condition (no. 8) and the 
inclusion of informative notes, the application is generally in accordance with the 
Dorset Biodiversity Appraisal Protocol and with local policy ME1. 

15.21 As the site is within 5km of Dorset Heathlands which is a nationally designated 
habitat, an Appropriate Assessment (AA) has been carried out by the Council for the 
proposals. The AA concluded that the application will have a likely significant effect in 
the absence of avoidance and mitigation measures on the Dorset Heathlands 
Special Protection Area and Dorset Heaths Special Area of Conservation, but that 
the mitigation measures set out in the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework can 
be secured via the Community Infrastructure Levy such that there will be no adverse 
effect on the integrity of the designated sites. 

 

Scheduled Monuments 

Page 91



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

15.22 The application site is more than 370 metres from the Scheduled Ancient 
Monument, Bell barrow known as Belle Vue Barrow, and a bowl barrow 250m north east 

of Hillamsland (List Entry: 1015994). This distance and intervening land uses are sufficient 
to ensure that no damage to the Scheduled Monument will arise nor will the 
proposal harm its setting. Therefore, the application accords with local policy HE1. 

 

Other Matters 

15.23 The proposal will use the existing vehicular access that was granted to serve no. 1 
Christchurch Road under permission 3/99/0498. The Council’s Highways team are 
satisfied with this arrangement. 

15.24 SGN (Southern Gas Networks) consultation response sets out that the asset 
owner(s) of pipes and cables that may be affected by the proposals will contact the 
landowner should they consider it necessary. SGN has also provided a document 
providing advice on how to avoid injury and damage to gas pipes. An informative 
note is recommended. 

Balancing assessment 

15.25 Since the Council is unable to demonstrate a 4 year housing land supply for the 
East Dorset local plan area, there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as set out in paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF. This means that planning 
permission should be granted unless: 

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole. 

15.26 In this case no harm to the Green Belt or additional flood risk has been identified 
that would provide a clear reason for refusal. The proposal is contrary to policy 
KS2 because the location for development lies outside of any settlement, however 
the site is not in an isolated location where the NPPF identifies that new dwellings 
should be avoided. Limited weight can be given to disbenefits of a new dwelling in 
this location since future occupants can access the urban area, which lies 
approximately 180m to the northeast, via footpaths across the adjacent Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).  It is judged that there are no adverse 
impacts that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
modest contribution that the scheme affords to local housing supply. 

 

16.0   Conclusion 

16.1 For the above reasons the application is judged to accord with the development plan 
as a whole.  

 

17.0 Recommendation  

Grant, subject to the following conditions: 

Page 92



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.   

 Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  

 ARK.HOY.703 2 Proposed Floor & Roof Plan 

ARK.HOY.704 2 Proposed Elevations 

ARK.HOY.705 6 Proposed Site Plan 1:200  

ARK.HOY.706 2 Location & Block Plan (received 15/4/2024) 

ARK.HOY.707 6 Proposed Site Plan 1:500 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

  

3. The external materials to be used for the walls and roof shall be similar in 
colour and texture to the existing building.  

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development. 

 

4. Prior to the first occupation of the building as a dwelling, a soft landscaping and 
planting scheme shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the approved scheme shall be implemented in 
full during the planting season November - March following commencement of 
the development or within a timescale to be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include provision for the maintenance 
and replacement as necessary of the trees and shrubs for a period of not less 
than 5 years.   

 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

 

5. Prior to the first occupation of the building as a dwelling, details of all proposed 
means of enclosure, boundary walls and fences to the site, shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the approved details.  

 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area. 

 

6. Prior to the first occupation of the building as a dwelling the 
turning/manoeuvring and parking shown on Drawing Number ARK.HOY.705 3 
must have been constructed. Thereafter, these areas, must be permanently 
maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified. 

Page 93



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site and to 
ensure that highway safety is not adversely impacted upon. 

 

7. Prior to first occupation of the building as a dwelling, the surface water drainage 
scheme shall be implemented as detailed within the following approved surface 
water drainage documents: 

 C2919_101 Surface Water Drainage Layout (revision PL1) 

 C2919_301 Construction Details (revision PL)  

 Thereafter, the approved surface water drainage scheme shall be maintained in 
accordance with C2919 Maintenance Schedule (revision P). 

 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to protect water quality. 

 

8 Prior to the first occupation of the building as a dwelling, 1 no. bat box shall be 
installed, and any new fencing shall include 15cm hedgehog gaps. Thereafter, 
these biodiversity measures shall be retained. 

Reason: To enhance biodiversity in those instances where mitigation and 
compensation are not required. 

 

9. Prior to the first occupation of the building as a dwelling, non-return valves shall 
be fitted to all drain and sewer outlets. 

 Reason: To protect future occupants in the event of flooding. 

 

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) (with or without modification) no enlargement(s) of the 
dwellinghouse hereby approved (including to its roof) shall be erected or 
constructed. 

 Reason: To protect amenity, the character of the area and the openness of the 
Green Belt. 

 

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) (with or without modification) no garages, sheds or other 
outbuildings shall be erected or constructed nor shall any non-permeable 
hardstanding area be created other than as shown on the approved plans.  

 Reason: To protect amenity, the character of the area and in the interests of 
flood risk. 

 

Informative Notes: 

1. Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement 

Page 94



Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 
on providing sustainable development.  

 The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:   

 - offering a pre-application advice service, and             

 - as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.  

 In this case:          

 - The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the 
opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer. 

 

2. Informative: This development constitutes Community Infrastructure Levy 'CIL' 
liable development. CIL is a mandatory financial charge on development, and 
you will be notified of the amount of CIL being charged on this development in 
a CIL Liability Notice. To avoid additional financial penalties, it is important that 
you notify us of the date you plan to commence development before any work 
takes place and follow the correct CIL payment procedure. 

 

3. Please check that any plans approved under the building regulations match the 
plans approved in this planning permission or listed building consent. Do not 
start work until revisions are secured to either of the two approvals to ensure 
that the development has the required planning permission or listed building 
consent. 

 

4. The applicant is advised to refer to Southern Gas Network’s (SGN’s) 
consultation response for this planning application, and also to refer to the SGN 
and Scottish & Southern Electricity Networks’ guidance. 

 

5. The applicant is advised that bats are protected in the UK by Schedule 5 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and Part 3 of Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  Work should proceed with caution 
and if any bats are found, all work should cease, the area in which the bats 
have been found should be made secure and advice sought advice sought 
from Natural England (tel: 0300 060 3900), website www.naturalengland.org.uk 
before proceeding.  

 Further information about the law and bats may be found on the following 
website https://www.gov.uk/guidance/bats-protection-surveys-and-licences 

 

6. The applicant is advised to carefully consider the impacts upon bats foraging at 
nearby suitable habitats, should any new lighting be installed at the property. 

 

7. Street Naming and Numbering  

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/bats-protection-surveys-and-licences


Eastern Area Planning Committee 

24 April 2024 

 The Council is responsible for street naming and numbering within our district. 
This helps to effectively locate property for example, to deliver post or in the 
case of access by the emergency services.  You need to register the new or 
changed address by completing a form. You can find out more and download 
the form from our website www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/street-naming-and-numbering   

 

8. Future occupiers are advised to sign up for flood alerts as the site access may 
be susceptible to surface water flooding: https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-
warnings 

 

9. The applicants are advised that planning permission if required for the 
formation and use of the access recently constructed near to the roundabout to 
serve 1 Christchurch Road. 

 

 

 

Page 96

http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/street-naming-and-numbering
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/street-naming-and-numbering
https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings
https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings


Eastern Area Planning Committee    
24 April 2024 

   Approximate Site Location  

Application reference: P/FUL/2023/06130 

Description of development: Change of use and conversion of outbuilding to form 

new dwelling 

Site address: 1 Christchurch Road, Longham, Ferndown BH22 8TD 

 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

Application Number: 
P/VOC/2023/07382      

Webpage: 
Planning application: P/VOC/2023/07382 - dorsetforyou.com 
(dorsetcouncil.gov.uk)  

Site address: The Barn  Gods Blessing Lane  Holt BH21 7DE 

Proposal:  Variation of Condition 4 to application P/PAAC/2023/04935 

(Conversion of agricultural barn to a single dwelling, with 

alterations to provide windows to all habitable rooms including 3 

bedrooms and 2 reception rooms.) 

(Approved Condition 4 was added under a Non-Material 
Amendment (P/NMA/2023/06875) to list the approved plans) 

Applicant name: 
Mr R Freemantle 

Case Officer: 
Jane Vlach 

Ward Member(s): 
Cllr Robin Cook  

Publicity 

expiry date: 
30 January 2024 

Officer site 

visit date: 
04 March 2024 

Decision due 

date: 
11 March 2024 Ext(s) of time: 11 March 2024 

No of Site 

Notices: 

2 (1 x site gate & 1 x on Telegraph pole on Gods Blessing Lane in front 

of barn). 

SN displayed 

reasoning: 
To maximise neighbour awareness 

 
 

1.0 The application comes to the committee at the request of the Chair of the Eastern 
Planning Committee 

2.0 Summary of recommendation: 

Grant subject to conditions 

3.0 Reason for the recommendation: as set out in section 16: 

  

• Prior Approval for the change of use of the barn to a dwelling in accordance 
with the requirements of Class Q of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 was most recently granted on 
25th October 2023. The current application is to vary the condition relating to 
the approved plans to amend the design. 
 

• It is necessary to consider whether the proposed development would be 
acceptable with the alternative condition wording; in this case the proposal is 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=402249
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=402249


Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

to vary the approved plans condition to allow alternative fenestration. The 
relevant material considerations are the acceptability of the design and 
appearance of the building and the provision of adequate natural light to 
habitable rooms. 

 

• The proposed amended design is considered appropriate in its setting; it will 
not result in any demonstrable harm to the character of the area or to the 
amenity of future occupiers. 

 

• There are no other material considerations that would warrant refusal of this 
application. 
 

4.0 Key planning issues  

 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development Prior approval for the change of use of the 

agricultural building to a dwelling under Class Q 

of The Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

was granted in 2019 (3/19/1590/PNAGD), 2021 

(3/21/0167/PNAGD) and 2023 

(P/PAAC/2023/04935).  

Scale, design, impact on character and 
appearance 

The proposed design and external materials are 
considered acceptable and comply with Core 
Strategy Policy HE2 and would be compatible 
with their surroundings  

Impact on the living conditions of the 
occupants. 

The proposed design offers acceptable living 
conditions for future occupants   

Impact on landscape or heritage assets The proposed design would have no adverse 
impact on the character of the area.  

 

5.0 Description of Site 

5.1 The barn is situated to the north of Gods Blessing Lane, north east of Pig Oak, Holt. 
A ribbon of detached dwellings in large plots follows the southern side of Gods 
Blessing Lane whilst on the northern side the barn is surrounded by agricultural land.  

5.2 Mature hedging and a large oak tree restrict views of the barn from God Blessing 
Lane. Land is relatively level. 

 

6.0 Description of Development 

6.1 The application is to vary the plans condition attached to the Prior Approval 
application granted in 2023 (P/PAAC/2023/04935). The condition listing the plans 
was added as a non-material amendment in 2023 (P/NMA/2023/06875). 

Page 100



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

6.2 The proposed plans relate primarily to alternative fenestration treatment and show a 
fourth bedroom. 

6.3  Materials shown are black vertical timber cladding on the side elevations, black 
aluminium window frames, slate effect roof tiles and PV panels recessed into the 
roof on the southern elevation.  

6.4 During the course of the application, it became apparent that the applicant needed to 
serve notice on Dorset Highways as owners of a strip of land providing access to the 
site. This was duly done. 

6.5 The 3D illustrative plans submitted with the application showed projections around 
the proposed windows. The agent has subsequently confirmed that these no longer 
form part of the application. 

Approved Elevations  

P/NMA/2023/06875 

Proposed Elevations 

South west – facing Gods Blessing 

Lane 
 
 

             (Glazed Area 11m2)               (Glazed Area 11.2m2) 

South east    

 

 

        (Glazed Area 15.6m2)       (Glazed Area 16.4m2) 

North east   

 

 

      (Glazed Area 6.5m2)      (Glazed Area 19.7m2) 

North west   

Page 101



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

 

 

(Glazed Area 15.6m2) (Glazed Area 6.2m2) 

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History   

 

Planning 
application 

Proposal Decision Comments 

P/PDE/2024/00039 Requesting 
permission for static 
caravan on site 
during Class Q 
conversion of barn 

Permitted 
development 

 

P/NMA/2023/06875 Non Material 
Amendment to 
P/PAAC/2023/04935 
to add planning 
condition listing 
approved plans to 
allow a Section 73 
application 
thereafter 

Granted S73 relates to an 
application to 
vary a condition 

P/PAAC/2023/04935 Conversion of 
agricultural barn to a 
single dwelling, with 
alterations to 
provide windows to 
all habitable rooms 
including 3 
bedrooms and 2 
reception rooms 

Prior Approval 
granted 

Renewal of prior 
approval. Extant 
until 25 October 
2026 

3/21/0167/PNAGD 
Conversion of 

existing barn into a 

two storey dwelling 

 

Prior Approval 
Given 

Renewal of prior 
approval 

Page 102



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

3/19/1590/PNAGD 
Change of use of 

existing agricultural 

building to a C3 

dwelling.  

Prior Approval 
Not Required 

Initial application 
to establish 
change of use 

 

8.0 List of Constraints 

Within Greenbelt: Bournemouth Greenbelt 

Within Dorset Heathlands - 5km Heathland Buffer 

Within Bournemouth Water Consultation Area  

Groundwater – Susceptibility to flooding;  

Ancient Woodland: MARTINS CLOSE COPSES; Ancient & Semi-Natural Woodland 

- Distance: 229.44 

Ancient Woodland: HARTS LANE COPSE; Ancient & Semi-Natural Woodland - 

Distance: 409.55 

Natural England Designation - RAMSAR: Dorset Heathlands (UK11021); - Distance: 

2117.43 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) impact risk zone;  

Radon: Class: Class 1: Less than 1%  

 

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 
 

Consultees 

1. Dorset Council Highways 

No objections 

 

2. Dorset Council Building Control 

Requirement B5 (Fire Service Access) to be carefully considered 

 

3. Holt Parish Council 

The proposal contravenes some of the 6 additional conditions specified on 
the Decision Notice for P/NMA/2023/06875 dated 15 December 2023. 
 

4. Stour and Allen Vale Ward Members 

No comments received  

 

Page 103



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

Representations received  

The application was advertised by means of site notices.  
 

Total - Objections Total -  No Objections Total - Comments 

2 1 0 

 Summary of comments of objections: 

• Contravenes conditions [plans list] of the NMA granted in 2023 

• Fundamental Change and contrary to the Class Q Planning Permission 

initially granted.  

• Permitting additional windows will change the original barn to a normal 

house and not a barn conversion. 

 Summary of comments of support: 

• Delighted to see that work has started on the old, eyesore of a 

dilapidated barn in God's Blessing Lane. Outside elevations look far 

more aesthetically attractive than previously. Beautiful well-maintained 

building and plot of land. 

10.0 Duties 

s38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 

determination of planning applications must be in accordance with the development 

plan unless material circumstances indicate otherwise. 

11.0 Relevant Policies 

Development Plan 
 
Adopted Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan (2014) (CED LP – Core 
Strategy):  
The following policy is considered to be relevant to this proposal:  
 

HE2 - Design of new development 
HE3- Landscape Quality 

 
Other Material Considerations  
 
Emerging Local Plans: 

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that local planning authorities may give weight 
to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 

• the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

• the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant plan policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may 
be given); and 

Page 104



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

• the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan are to the policies of the 
NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).  

The Dorset Council Local Plan  

Options Consultation took place between January and March 2021. Being at a very 
early stage of preparation, the relevant policies in the Draft Dorset Council Local 
Plan should be accorded very limited weight in decision making. However, the 
production of the Draft Local Plan has significant implications for the assessment of 
housing land supply. 

The emerging Local Plan has reached Regulation 18 of the (Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 stage and includes a policies 
map and proposed allocations towards meeting housing need. Therefore, as detailed 
under Paragraph 226 of the NPPF (December 2023), for decision-making purposes 
only, the Council is only required to identify a minimum of 4 years’ worth of 
deliverable housing sites. 

National Planning Policy Framework  

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or relevant 
policies are out-of-date then permission should be granted unless any adverse 
impacts of approval would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the NPPF or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development 
should be restricted. 

 

12.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 

 
13.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Page 105



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty. 

The proposed variation to the approved design of the proposed dwelling would not 
result in any disadvantage to those with protected characteristics. 

 
14.0 Financial benefits  
  
 None relevant as application is to vary a condition 
 
15.0 Environmental Implications 

 
The conversion of an existing barn to a dwellinghouse will be associated with some 
carbon emissions but these will be less than would be anticipated for a wholly new 
development. The dwelling will need to comply with Building Control Regulations. 

 
 

16.0 Planning Assessment 
 

Caselaw has established that the conditions imposed on a prior approval can be 
subject to an application under Section 73 to vary or remove them.  
 
Principle of Development 

 
16.1 The Prior Approvals granted in 2019, 2021 and 2023 served to establish the principle 

of the proposed change of use of the agricultural building to a dwelling in accordance 
with Schedule 2, Part 4, Class Q permitted development rights.  

 
16.2 The grant of prior approval enables the applicants to undertake the conversion in 

accordance with the details submitted with the application and the criteria and 
conditions set out in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). Additional conditions were also 
added to the 2023 prior approval to secure mitigation in the event that contamination 
is identified; biodiversity enhancement, and boundary demarcation.  

 
16.3 The subsequent non-material amendment (NMA) to the 2023 Prior Approval clarified 

the approved plans associated with the prior approval by adding a plans condition. 
The current application proposes to vary the plans condition. The proposals are for 
an alternative external appearance, primarily involving different fenestration. 

 
16.5 Holt Parish Council has objected to the application because it would change the 

approved plans, but a variation of condition application is an appropriate mechanism 
by which to consider the impacts.  

 
16.4 As set out in the General Permitted Development Order the only material 

considerations for a Class Q prior approval (agricultural to residential) are: 

(a) transport and highways impacts of the development, 

Page 106



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

(b) noise impacts of the development, 

(c) contamination risks on the site, 

(d) flooding risks on the site, 

(e) whether the location or siting of the building makes it otherwise impractical 

or undesirable for the building to change from agricultural use to a use falling 

within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order,  

(f) the design or external appearance of the building, and 

(g) the provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the 

dwellinghouses, 

Of these the only considerations relevant to the current proposals to change the 

elevation and floor plans are (f) and (g). As the proposal would provide adequate 

light to the habitable rooms the main consideration is (f) – the design or external 

appearance of the building.  On an application to vary conditions, only the conditions 

attached to the planning permission can be considered. 

Impact on the character of the area 

16.5  A neighbour has objected that the proposed external appearance will depart from a 

traditional barn appearance and will appear more domestic. The proposal represents 

a departure from the traditional treatment and cohesiveness of the original design, 

particularly in respect of the end gables where the large rectangular fenestration has 

been replaced by a more contemporary assortment of windows. However, this is not 

considered to be inappropriate in its setting or to result in any demonstrable harm to 

the character of the area. The scale and proportion of the building, with its height and 

low pitch flat roof, will continue to bear a stronger resemblance to a barn than a 

‘normal house’. 

16.6 The proposed use of black vertical timber cladding on the side elevations, black 
aluminium window frames, slate effect roof tiles and PV panels recessed into the 
roof on the southern elevation are all considered appropriate within this rural setting. 
The barn is well screened by mature vegetation from views on both approaches 
along Gods Blessing Lane and the proposed reduction in glazing on the north west 
gable will generate less light spillage from this side elevation. 

 
 
16.7 Total glazed area: 

Approved plans     = approx.48.7m2 Proposed plans    = approx. 53.5m2 

The proposal introduces an additional ca.9% increase in fenestration, primarily on 

the north east (rear) elevation, mainly on the eastern end, where it will be less 

prominent from distant views from Holt Lane. It is not considered that this would 

result in a significant increase in light spill so there would be no demonstrable harm 

to the local landscape quality and the proposal would not conflict with policy HE3. 

Page 107



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

 

18.0 Conclusion 

The proposed alternative appearance of the elevations are acceptable in accordance 

with policies HE2 and HE3. Any conversion of the barn to residential use will require 

compliance with all of the criteria and conditions set out in the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). 

Previous additional planning conditions in respect of contamination, biodiversity and 

curtilage demarcation remain relevant. 

18.0 Recommendation: Approve subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans:  

 202  Location Plan 

 200  Site Plan 

 201  Block Plan 

 206  Elevations 

 203  Floor Plans 

 204  Roof Plan 

  

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

  

 

2. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 

Planning Authority and an investigation and risk assessment must be 

undertaken in accordance with requirements of BS10175 (as amended). 

Should any contamination be found requiring remediation, a remediation 

scheme, including a time scale, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The approved remediation scheme shall be 

carried out and on  completion  a verification report shall be prepared and 

submitted within two weeks of completion and submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority.  

  

 Reason: To ensure risks from contamination are minimised. 

 

3. Works to convert the barn must take place fully in accordance with the 

mitigation measures set out in the conclusion and appendices of the 

Preliminary Roost Appraisal (PRA) & Barn Owl report.  

 Prior to first occupation of the dwelling details of a Barn Owl Box, as specified 

in the ABR Ecology Completion Statement dated 17/2/22, shall be submitted to 

and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Barn Owl Box shall 

Page 108



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

be erected as agreed prior to first occupation or use of the dwelling hereby 

approved.   

  

 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity 

  

 

4. Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling, details of the boundary demarcation 

for the residential curtilage identified on the Block Plan, drawing 002, shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

approved boundary demarcation shall be installed prior to first occupation and 

thereafter retained.  

  

 Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and 

openness of the Green Belt as the location plan indicates a larger area.    

  

Informative Notes: 

1. The application site is in close proximity of a European protected heathland 

(Dorset Heathland) and given the proposed residential use, the development is 

likely to result in a significant impact unless mitigation is secured. 

 The matter of appropriate assessment under the Habitats Regulations is a 

condition of the permitted development legislation that must be resolved prior to 

commencement; the developer should obtain a Habitats Regulations Approval 

via an application to the Council as the Local Planning Authority. 

2. The developer is reminded that permitted development under Class Q of the 

GDPO only allows for the conversion of a building and does not allow for the 

new build or fresh build of an agricultural building. The developer should satisfy 

themselves that all of the Schedule 2 Part 3 Class Q of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended) are met prior to commencing work.   

3. The applicant is reminded that Class Q only grants the change of use of the 

building and its curtilage the size of which is defined in legislation. Planning 

permission would be required to use any other land within the red line for 

purposes other than agriculture e.g. as garden. 

4. Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement 

 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 

authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 

on providing sustainable development.  

 The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:   

 - offering a pre-application advice service, and             

Page 109



Eastern Area Planning Committee 
24 April 2024 

 - as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.  

 In this case:          

 - The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the 

opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer. 

5. Informative: This development constitutes Community Infrastructure Levy 'CIL' 

liable development. CIL is a mandatory financial charge on development and 

you will be notified of the amount of CIL being charged on this development in 

a CIL Liability Notice. To avoid additional financial penalties it is important that 

you notify us of the date you plan to commence development before any work 

takes place and follow the correct CIL payment procedure. 

6. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as 

amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of 

any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a 

development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this act. 

The Natural Environment Team, Dorset Council recommends that vegetation, 

hedge, shrubs and tree removal; translocation or cutting back avoids the bird 

nesting season which runs from mid-February to 31st August. This is in order to 

avoid impacts to nesting birds and infringement of the legislation.  

 Vegetation or site clearance as a result of this development should be 

undertaken outside of the nesting season specified above. In some seasons 

the nesting period may start before or extend beyond these dates, so the 

applicant should be aware that the dates are a guide only. If clearance work 

has to be undertaken during the nesting season, a breeding bird survey needs 

to be carried out by a suitably qualified person no more than 48 hours before 

clearance /cutting works commence. Any active nests identified should be 

protected by a 5m exclusion zone until the young have left the nest. 

 As a general rule, it should be assumed that birds will be nesting in trees, 

scrub, reeds or substantial ditch side vegetation during the core breeding 

period, unless a survey had shown this not to be the case. In addition, some 

species are ground nesting, such as the skylark and lapwing, both of which can 

occur on grassland areas and cleared sites where there is a time lapse 

between demolition and development.  

Page 110



Eastern Area Planning Committee    
24 April 2024 

   Approximate Site Location  

Application reference: P/VOC/2023/07382 

Description of development: Variation of Condition 4 to application 
P/PAAC/2023/04935 (Conversion of agricultural barn to a single dwelling, with 
alterations to provide windows to all habitable rooms including 3 bedrooms and 2 
reception rooms.)  
(Approved Condition 4 was added under a Non-Material Amendment 
(P/NMA/2023/06875) to list the approved plans) 

 
Site address: The Barn, Gods Blessing Lane, Holt, BH21 7DE 

 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 P/OUT/2022/04113 -  Land off Blackfield Lane, West Moors, Ferndown, BH22 0NH
	Location plan_Blackfield Lane

	7 P/FUL/2023/06130 - 1 Christchurch Road Longham Ferndown BH22 8TD
	Location Plan_1 Christchurch Road, Longham

	8 P/VOC/2023/07382 - The Barn, Gods Blessing Lane, Holt, BH21 7DE
	Location Plan_The Barn


